Violence against Working Children A report on recent research relating to work that is harmful to children



Violence against Working Children

A report on recent research relating to work that is harmful to children

Michael Bourdillon



Save the Children works for:
A world which respects and values each child
A world which listens to children and learns
A world were all children have hope and opportunity

Save the Children fights for children's rights. We deliver immediate and lasting improvements to children's lives worldwide.

ISBN 13: 978-91-7321-203-8 ISBN 10: 91-7321-203-2

Code No: 3314

© 2006 Save the Children

Project leader: Lena Karlsson

Production management: Sofia Hildebrand

Save the Children Sweden S- 107 88 Stockholm Phone: +46 8 698 90 00 Fax: +46 8 698 90 10 info@rb.se www.rb.se

Contents

Summary	4
Introduction	6
Childhood	6
Defining harmful work	7
Focus on worst forms	8
Other research	9
Children's perceptions	10
Denigration of children and their work	
Children's perspectives on violence in the workplace	11
Job insecurity	12
Sectoral approach	13
Violations against children in the workplace	
Physical harm	
Conditions of work	
Physical abuse	15
Chemicals	15
Other Hazards	16
Psychosocial harm	16
Verbal abuse	16
Emphasise inequality	17
Stress and lack of leisure	17
Away from home	17
Deprivation of education	18
Deprivation of freedom	19
Causes of harmful work	21
Culture	21
Poverty	21
Other problems	22
Availability of work	22
Lack of information	22
Focus	23
Specific areas of concern	24
Work within families	24
Domestic employment	25
Sex work	27
Illegal activities	28
Improving the situation of children	30
Respect	30
Enforcement of legislation	30
Advocacy	31
Child participation	31
Focus of action	32
Poverty alleviation	32
Alternative income	32
Information and education	33
Conclusion: Whose problem?	34
References	35
Footnotes	42

Summary

This report looks at recent research and reports on ways in which children are harmed in the workplace and their rights are violated. Much of this research has focused on the worst forms of child labour, following the direction of the ILO Convention 182. While this focus has resulted in attention to children very much in need of support, it has taken attention away from the problems of large numbers of children in less severe forms of work.

There is need to consult the children concerned, and to treat them with respect, taking their opinions seriously. Failure to consult working children concerning legislation, its enforcement, and strategies to support them could be construed as a violation of children's rights to have a say on matters that affect their lives. Consulting the children will ensure that attention is paid to the interests of children, rather than to the moral discomfort of adults.

The views of children on harmful work on the whole coincide with views of adults and those expressed in international conventions. Working children oppose the exploitation of children; work that inhibits education; long hours for little pay; any kind of forced labour; work that endangers their health or morals; and physical and psychological abuse of children at work. But children sometimes add dimensions, which need to be taken into account when we consider violence to children at the workplace.

Working children lose their self-esteem through being denigrated in their work by employers. The children are also denigrated by discourse that regards their work as deviant, something evil to be abolished, and talks of the "rehabilitation" of working children, ignoring their often admirable and responsible contributions to their families and communities. Such language violates the dignity of the children.

There is much documentation of violence against children in the workplace. This includes physical violence to children and their exposure to a variety of hazards. Violence can also be psychological. They can be deprived of contact with their families. Children's rights to education can be violated by excessive work, and by a failure to provide appropriate education. Children's right to freedom is also sometimes violated.

Poverty is usually one factor that drives children into harmful work, but is not itself the sole explanation. Culture and the demand for child labour are also influential. There is need to ensure that children and there communities are aware of the issues, and that interventions are aware of the perceptions of local communities.

The report goes on to consider particular areas that have been the focus of discussion. Excessive work in the home is noticed by children. Domestic service can be both beneficial and harmful to children. There has been considerable discussion of children in the sex trade, which exposes children to considerable violence and to denigration by those who wish to help them. There is also consideration of children in the drugs trade, again pointing out that intervention must be based on an understanding of the social environment and culture of the children.

When it comes to protecting children from violence, it is not clear that simply banning the workplace will remove violence to children and improve their lives. Rather than a general concern with labour as a problem, it would help to focus on the particular rights of children that are being violated in any situation. These include rights to be respected and to be listened to. The labour of children is a symptom indicating which children most need attention. The children themselves can provide the guide as to precisely where and how this attention might best be applied.

When children are engaged in harmful work, this is violence against children and action is needed. But the harmful work may be a symptom of greater problems for the children rather than itself being the major problem. When work provides for the children a relief from something worse, it is violence against the children to remove their solution as though it were the problem, rather than to discern and deal with the root problem. Children's lives are more likely to be improved by providing them with more and better options, than by removing the option they have chosen to try to improve their lives.

Introduction

This report provides an overview of latest research in English on children and work. It summarises current positions of how children are harmed or violated in the work situation, and makes some suggestions towards policy and good practice based on reported attempts to help the children.

This introduction looks at background issues on child labour. I go on to discuss children's perceptions of what makes work harmful, which add to adult definitions of harmful work. I then present examples of violence to children in the workplace, and summarise current conclusions about causes of harmful work. I present four areas of concern, in which there has been some discussion, before discussing various responses to harmful work.

Childhood

A key issue in the discourse on child labour is the application of a Western ideal of childhood, largely free of responsibility and economic activity, to other societies. While such an ideal is still promulgated by some¹, it has been seriously challenged by many. Most recently, O'Connell Davidson has argued against a radical dualism that divorces childhood from adulthood: she points out that many of the problems facing working children have much in common with those of adults in similar social environments and we need to be aware of continuities between children, who are already active agents, and adults.² It is important to focus on the best interests of children rather than to defend adult constructions of childhood.

Demographically and economically, the situation is fundamentally different in the developed and undeveloped worlds. Whereas around 20 percent of the population is under 18 years of age in the developed world, over half the population is under 18 in less developed countries. In these countries, the smaller proportion of adults also has poorer access to income. It is not possible to offer the same services to children as children receive in the developed world. This issue becomes particularly acute when large numbers of children have to fend for themselves because their parents are dead, or incapacitated, or otherwise unable or unwilling to care for them. Consideration of how to respond to violence in the workplace must take into account the needs of these children.

The point that childhood is compatible with contributing to livelihood is underscored in the *African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child* (1991), which largely follows the UNCRC, but which asserts that children also have responsibilities, including the duty to assist parents and elders in time of need, and to place their physical and intellectual abilities at the service of their national communities.³ With reference to South America, Cussiánovich has pointed out that a perspective that regards childhood and work as incompatible damages the self-esteem of working children in two ways: it makes them properly neither children nor workers.⁴

Defining harmful work

One of the difficulties in this discussion lies in the terminology that is used. In 2003, Save the Children recommended that because of its emotional overtones, the term "child labour" should be avoided.⁵ Other authors have supported this view, pointing out that the term is used by different people or institutions in different ways to suit their particular agendas,⁶ and that it denigrates the children involved and their work.⁷ The term nevertheless remains widely in use.

Some authors have tried to define "child labour" as work that is in some way harmful to children, hindering their growth and development. Sometimes the term is defined in this way in opposition to "child work", which is defined as benign work of children. It is rare, however, to find consistency in such usage. The term, "child labour", carries connotations of employment, and is widely extended to include any employment under the legal minimum age, whether or not it is shown to be harmful. "Work" also often carries connotations of employment is certain contexts, and is rarely used consistently to cover only benign work: some children take for granted household chores and do not categorise these as work, while others include any strenuous activity. The effect of such definitions is to add to the emotional overtones of the term "child labour", associating it with harm from which children should be protected, without producing clarity.

Harm is relative to a situation and alternative options. Work that takes up so much time and energy that schoolwork suffers may be considered harmful to a child that has no need to do this work. But if in the situation of the child this work is what makes schooling possible, then it benefits the child. When considering what can be done to prevent the exploitation of children, activities for survival often include forms of work that outsiders deem to be harmful and therefore not to be tolerated. A discourse of "abolishing child labour" and prohibiting this kind of work operates against the children and the families most in need of help and support.¹³

In the worst cases of child labour, physical harm from the working conditions, and particularly from chemicals, can readily be assessed and have been recorded. Such harmful working conditions usually affect adult workers as well as child workers and can be addressed by applying labour laws and regulations more strictly.

In the less extreme forms of children's work, harm is more difficult to measure, particularly psychological harm. Although ways of assessing psychosocial harm to children have been suggested,¹⁴ there has been little research on this topic. Further, a study of the impact of work on children ideally needs to cover a period of time. There has been one such study covering a cohort of children in the USA over ten years that suggests that regular part-time employment during high school does more good than harm for children¹⁵, but caution is required in generalising any of these results to other situations and other countries.

Other authors, for the convenience of statistics, use the term "child labour" to cover any economic activity. This can be as little as three hours or less per week. At the same time, it is spoken of as a problem, inhibiting the education of children. Such a definition includes work that is not harmful, and often beneficial to children. It also excludes work within the home, such as caring for the sick or extensive household chores, which can be disrupting to the lives of children.

Problems with definitions create problems with statistics. The conflation of different meanings of the term "child labour" results in figures that tell us little of the incidence and extent of harmful work.¹⁷ The number of children involved in the agreed intolerable forms of child labour remains unknown, notwithstanding many statistics cited. It is a relatively small proportion of all working children.

Another term that is widely and loosely used is "exploitation". The UNCRC speaks of the right of children to be protected from economic exploitation (article 32), but does not define this term. Often the term is equated with harmful work. The term is widely used uncritically and loosely with respect to children. Its technical connotations of unequal power relations allowing some to take surplus value are lost, and "exploitation" is often assumed to apply to any situation in which children enter the labour market. In fact, businesses sometimes exploit the co-operation of children – even with the help of the school system – without necessarily causing them harm. 19

Focus on worst forms

Since the passing of ILO Convention 182 in 1999, much literature on children and work has focussed on the "worst forms of child labour". There is little disagreement that certain forms of child labour are intolerable – slavery, bondage, criminal activity, sex trade, and war. This is where children suffer worst from violence in the workplace, and this is where much attention has been focussed by adult organisations concerned to stop the abuse of children.²⁰

A less clear area is "work which, by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out, is likely to harm the health, safety or morals of children". Some writers and organisations try to classify work in particular sectors, such as domestic work, in this way. Others, including many children (see below), argue that there is need to consider particular tasks and particular conditions of work. There is also disagreement about whether it is appropriate to speak of abolishing this kind of work, or whether it would be better to focus on removing or mitigating the harm and the danger.

This focus on "the worst forms" has some consequences that work against the benefit of children.

Reports that have this focus are designed to show up the worst cases of child abuse and to ignore less severe cases or any benefits that the children may receive from their work. They emphasise what makes adult feel uncomfortable rather than the perspectives of the children. I shall present an example of this with reference to domestic work below.

A number of studies have pointed to benefits that children receive from their work. The children often point to these benefits through organisations of working children. Working children are often proud to be contributing to their livelihood and that of their families; through work they find friends, education, and lessons on how to look after themselves that schools do not teach; children often enjoy their work, and the income that it provides.²² Mortimer's study points to long-term benefits of steady part-time employment while at high school in a developed situation.²³ Work can also be an important part of socialisation and training for street children, who see one of the purposes of their work as to learn to control their lives.²⁴ Even reports that are hostile to the work of children point out that impoverished families receive some relief and greater food security from the work of their children.²⁵ Children see their lives as improving as a result of

leaving poor rural homes to work in cities.²⁶ Such benefits and perceptions are lost when the focus is narrowly on the worst forms of work.

Focus on the worst forms of child labour means focus on abolition, rather than on the lives and needs of children. Activities that children take up for survival may appear to outsiders to be harmful and not to be tolerated.²⁷ I shall return to children's perceptions of their rights being violated by the desire to remove them from the workplace. Such a focus pays insufficient attention to alternative ways of protecting and helping the affected children.²⁸ It has been argued from the point of view of econometrics that focus on abolishing the worst forms of child labour can adversely affect the welfare of the poor:²⁹ while this analysis is debated, it raises the important issue that interventions related to child labour should have as their primary objective the improvement of the lives of the poor.

Emphasis on children in the worst forms of work results in insufficient attention to the much larger number of working children in other forms of work. Many of these children are working under conditions that need improvement. When intervention focuses on the abolition of the worst forms of labour, such children are either ignored or they risk losing their jobs.

Emphasis on rescuing children from the worst forms of work easily overlooks the agency and dignity of the children, treating them rather as victims to be rescued.³⁰ It denigrates their work and their attempts to improve their lives. I shall later point out how children object to the way such an approach denigrates themselves and their work.

In particular, organisations of working children involve mainly children involved in more benign forms of work. Such organisations have proved useful for empowering children to defend their own rights, and become positive instruments for development. A focus on abolishing the worst forms of child labour diverts attention from these organisations.

Other research

There have been few recent studies on children in part-time work in the developed world, pointing to the benefits children see in their work as well as problems it causes.³¹ This report pays little attention to these, since they contain relatively little on violence to children in the work place.

Children's perceptions

Much of the literature on child labour relies on international standards set by adults. Children were not consulted on the ILO Convention 138 on the minimum age for employment. Working children were, however, able to express their views in various forums that led to the ILO focussing its attention on the worst forms of child labour in Convention 182. It remains rare for children to be consulted before enacting legislation on child labour or on initiatives to enforce such legislation. The failure to consult working children on legislation and its enforcement, and on related strategies, could be construed as a violation of children's right to have a say on matters that affect their lives.

O'Connell Davidson³² makes the point that much discourse about the abuse of children is based on, and reinforces, adult perceptions of a radical division between childhood and adulthood. Reactions of adults often serve to defend their perspectives of childhood rather than focusing on children's needs. It is important to see the children as subjects, shaping their own lives, and merging into the adult world. Attention to the perspectives of children helps us to focus on children's problems rather than adult constructs.

When children are consulted, their views on harmful work on the whole coincide with views of adults and those expressed in international conventions. They oppose the exploitation of children. They oppose work that inhibits education. They oppose long hours for little pay. They oppose any kind of forced labour. They oppose work that endangers their health or morals. They oppose physical and psychological abuse of children at work. But children sometimes add dimensions, which need to be taken into account when we consider violence to children at the workplace.

The importance of listening to children is now widely accepted. Some authors, however, emphasise the limitations of children's perceptions, asserting that adults are in the best position to make decisions.³³ Others point to the need to take children's opinions seriously in deciding on strategies and policies.³⁴ These points of view can be reconciled.

Denigration of children and their work

Several reports have rightly pointed out how working children lose their self-esteem through being denigrated in their work by employers. The children also complain at the way they and their work are also denigrated by discourse that regards their work as deviant, something evil to be abolished, and talks of the "rehabilitation" of working children, ignoring their often admirable and responsible contributions to their families and communities. Such language violates the dignity of the children.

The final declaration of the children at the international meeting of working children in Berlin in 2004 included this statement.

We value our work and view it as an important human right for our personal development. We oppose every kind of exploitation and reject everything that hurts our physical and moral integrity. In our lives our work allows us to resist with dignity the economic, political and suppressing model that criminalizes and excludes us and continues to worsen the living conditions of ourselves, our families and our communities.³⁵

The statement criticised those working for the abolition of child labour because "they are undermining our dignity as working children and jeopardizing our rights".

This reinforces an earlier Declaration By The National Movement Of Working Children And Adolescents Of Peru (MNNATSOP) On The New ILO Convention Concerning Child Labour in 1999, in which the children stated:

In general, the Convention maintains throughout a negative view of work as something harmful and unacceptable for us as underage children. That view has been generalized and disseminated, with the result that just because we work we are regarded as if we were sick, outlaws, or anti-social delinquents that need to be "rehabilitated and reincorporated into society."

We feel we are being mistreated and stigmatized simply because we work and, once again, we are disappointed at the ineffectiveness of organizations that should not only protect us from abuses and exploitation but also stimulate us and value us as members of society with our own rights. While there are certain situations that do undermine our dignity, we feel that work is an expression of solidarity towards our families and our country, Peru, which is trying to overcome the poverty in which we find ourselves everyday.

Children's perspectives on violence in the workplace

Regional reports from children to the UN secretariat on children and violence have generally paid little attention to violence at work. There have been exceptions. The submission from Bhima Sangha, a working children's movement in Southern India, made a number of points on violence at work, some of which I shall return to below.

Between 2000 and 2004, facilitators from Save the Children UK collected views of children in a variety of occupations and locations in Dhaka. These children expressed positive features of their work, including feeling proud to help their families, finding status in their work skills, having money to spend, and meeting friends at work. Children have also defined work as good if it provides prospects for the future in terms of employment or the development of skills, factors that the children saw as more important than hazards that the work might contain.³⁶

There are also many things they dislike about their work, most of which correlate with what adults define as harmful work, including long hours that interfere with school and play, compulsory overtime, unpaid overtime, inadequate or no pay, lack of freedom, lack of contact with home, various kinds of physical and verbal abuse, physical hazards, poor working conditions and environment. Bhima Sangha's submission on children and violence points to adults who lure children into work through false pretences. They also express concern about bonded labour, which is still common in rural areas in India.

Some issues raised by children are missed by adults. Children said that being confined indoors and forced to be stationary was worse than being able to move around out of doors. They also raised the issue of job insecurity.³⁷ Bhima Sangha

raised the matter of violence to children working in the streets or on their way to work, and particularly harassment of girls. They were also concerned about the absence of saving facilities for their money, which is particularly necessary in context of street bullies: since they are minors, normal saving and banking facilities are not available to them.

The issues of inadequate pay and job insecurity are missed in interventions based on Convention 182. These issues concern labour rights rather than protection from labour. Indeed, many actions designed to protect children from work create greater job insecurity. Discourse about "abolishing child labour" can contribute to the job insecurity that children do not like. Some observations by children point to violence arising from the enforcement of international standards.

Job insecurity

While some children are desperate to get out of the intolerable work situation that they find themselves in, many children want to be allowed to continue working and to have their conditions improved. Such children are worried about the security of their jobs.

Job insecurity is an issue that often affects labour generally. It becomes worse for children, because legislation often makes their work illegal making it difficult for them to defend themselves from instant dismissal. Children under the minimum age of employment are not allowed to form or join trades unions and so defend themselves. Further, unions are often reluctant to allow children under the age of majority to join, even when these children are legitimate workers. The lack of organisation for these children makes them particularly vulnerable to all kinds of violence at the work place, and unjust dismissal in particular.

Job insecurity is worsened by campaigns to abolish child labour. In its submission to the UN report and children and violence, the first point made by Bhima Sangha with respect to violence in the work place is as follows:

The Government conducts raids on our work places as a part of its Child Labour Eradication Programme and "rounds up" working children like stray dogs. We are pulled out of work, taken away against our wishes and illegally confined. The actual raid experience is very traumatic for us. No one talks to us before hand to ask us if we need to be rescued. No one talks to us after the raid about what the next steps will be. Sometimes we are sent off to the Observations Homes and kept there for days. We are constantly told that we have to stop working and start going to school. But they do not realise that in our given situation of poverty and deprivation, work is a necessity. Even if we try to explain our situation, we are not taken seriously. If we are migrants, we are sent off to our villages. They do not realise that we left our villages because we had no livelihood there. In the raid process we the concerned children are not at all consulted. Our needs are not taken into consideration. The alternatives forced on us by the Government actually make our situations worse than before. These raids are a total violation of our rights and are not a solution to child labour.

In the early days of Bhima Sangha 1990s, it was possible to strive for the improvement of working conditions for children in certain sectors, so that harmful work places could be made safer for the immediate future while long term solutions were being developed. It was also possible to find ways of combining work and school for children who were compelled to work under the age of 14 (the minimum age for work). Due to the processes leading to the adoption of ILO Convention 182 on the worst forms of child labour, there has been more pressure on the government, both centrally and at state level, to enforce legislation against child labour and to enrol children into formal schools.

Now, any form of negotiation or initiatives aimed at under 14s are likely to result in the children being removed from work and enrolled in the formal school system, with inadequate attention to the financial needs of children and their families, or to accommodate the needs of children who have been put into formal schools with little or no schooling background. This has resulted in a situation where it has been impossible to design and develop long term alternatives for children – while providing them with immediate support and assistance in their immediate present.³⁸ The organisation of working children is consequently afraid to raise issues concerning the working conditions of these children, in fear of making their situation worse.

It has been suggested that legislation on the minimum age of employment violates the fundamental human right of children to work and to join unions. While children have a right to protection from situations that are shown to be harmful to them, fundamental human rights should not be removed without specific justification.³⁹ The right to work appropriate to their age has been claimed by children in both developed and developing countries.⁴⁰ The problem is compounded by the fact that when states legislate the minimum age of employment, they do not always ensure that the "light work" permitted by the Convention is specified: consequently, any employment becomes illegal.

With reference to Africa, Andvig has pointed out that for children who need an income, child unemployment rather than child labour is the major problem.⁴¹ In such cases the welfare of children is violated by the refusal to allow them employment.

Sectoral approach

Consultations with children also suggest the inadequacy of a sectoral approach to defining the worst forms of child labour. The children point out that there are different tasks within any sector, some of which are appropriate for children and some of which are not.⁴² We shall see this issue arise again when we consider domestic work and its characterisation by some as one of the worst forms.

Violations against children in the workplace

Physical harm

Conditions of work

The growth of children can be damaged by work that is too heavy for their growing skeletons. Children complain of the loads they have to carry in paid work, particularly in portering and in agriculture, as well as in the home. A 12-year-old girl in South Africa commented.

Being given a 20-litre container to fetch water is hard. It is going to be heavy. This can cause you not to grow up.⁴³

Children's growth can also be damaged by working in positions that do not allow comfort and natural development. Children complained of work that requires them to be stationary in a confined space. This applies to a variety of industrial situations.

Children complain of not being allowed to move around, and of remaining in an uncomfortable position for long hours.

Poor lighting and insufficient ventilation frequently damages the health of workers indoors.

Sitting at crowded silk looms for long stretches of time exposes children to a variety of health problems.

The rooms are often damp and poorly ventilated; children sit with their legs tucked under them or dangling down into the pit underneath the loom. The crowded work environment encourages the spread of contagious diseases, especially tuberculosis and digestive disorders. Poor lighting and constant visual strain damages the eyesight. The fine silk threads cut the fingers, and the cuts are difficult to heal properly.

A medical examination at a health camp for some eighty-five children released from bondage in Kanchipuram's silk looms in November 1997 found that all were malnourished, two had pulmonary tuberculosis, twenty-six had various skin infections, and many had vision, dental and hearing problems.⁴⁴

Elsewhere, silk workers reported breathing problems and pain in their shoulders and upper backs.

Excessive dust can damage health, and especially the lungs, both indoors and out – especially in mining and quarrying.⁴⁵

Children complain of work that allows them no time for play or interferes with their studying.⁴⁶ Long hours of ten or more per day are frequently recorded in agriculture in the peak season, in domestic work, and in a variety of manufacturing enterprises. In mining, children may spend 24 hours continuously down a shaft.⁴⁷

Some situations have particularly harsh conditions for children. Camel jockeys are given shock treatment and special diets to keep their weight down.⁴⁸

I have discussed job insecurity. The absence of labour regulations means that children can be dismissed easily, without justification and without notice.

Leave and benefits to cover sickness are rarely given to children, who are forced to continue working while sick or to lose their wages and even their jobs. This is a common complaint from the children. Twelve-year-old Kanshi Ram, who works as a weaver's assistant, told the Human Rights Watch interviewer that if he gets sick,

the owner will scold me and will not allow me to leave. If I take leave he will beat me. He will ask me if I am cheating him.⁴⁹

Physical abuse

The punishment of children for making mistakes or absconding from work by beating them is widespread. Sometimes such punishment extends to deprivation of food. Nallanayaki P., who was thirteen years old and from a low caste, told the interviewer:

Always [the weavers and owners] are beating me—I don't like to work. They always scold and shout. They beat me on the back and head. They are always knocking their fists on my head or hitting me with a comb [wood piece in the loom].⁵⁰

A study of children in the sari industry in Bangladesh points out that 72 percent of the working children mentioned being slapped, beaten or kicked. One 15-year-old commented on his experience over two years:

Bihari ustads punish too much. My second ustad once hung me by the hands and beat me so hard, the stick broke. After that he continued beating me with the shuttle. I left him and worked under a third ustad. This one insulted me and did not pay me regularly. But I learned. I now work under a fourth master.⁵¹

An 11-year-old reported:

Two days before Muharam, I was fooling around, so he [the master] got hold of the shuttle, hit me hard and split my head. It bled a lot. He took me to the doctor and I had to be stitched. Afterwards, he was affectionate with me. When I get punished, mother says nothing.⁵²

The wound subsequently became infected and the master paid for further treatment.

Camel jockeys are sometimes punished by electric shock and being dipped in water.⁵³

The sexual harassment of girls by supervisors and others is frequently recorded. This is often associated with a working environment in which women are also subject to harassment.

Chemicals

In various types of work, children are exposed to physical harm through the use of chemicals. Rarely are they properly informed on the dangers of the chemicals they may come into contact with. In the USA, farm workers, including children, are exposed to pesticides washed into irrigation canals and subsequently coming into contact with workers and damaging their health.⁵⁴ In agriculture generally, workers, including children, are sent into the fields shortly after pesticides have been applied, again damaging their health.⁵⁵ Children also come into contact with pesticides in the packaging process, causing sickness. Sometimes children have been working while fungicides are sprayed overhead.⁵⁶

Children involved in gold mining in Burkina Faso were themselves worried about the effects of toxic acid fumes and mercury on their health.⁵⁷

Children in the silk industry in India develop respiratory problems from vapours and diesel fumes.⁵⁸

We notice that many of these hazards apply to working conditions generally – for adults as well as children, and can be partly overcome by applying safety standards. Nevertheless, children are particularly vulnerable to many chemicals because of their age and size, and the fact that they are still growing.

Other Hazards

Numerous hazards face children at work and are documented in reports on particular situations. Here are some examples that indicate the wide range of hazards. One study produced the expected correlation between working hours and incidence work-related injury or ill-health in Brazil, Cambodia, and Bangladesh, but pointed out that the precise relations depended on sectors, with agriculture producing more ill-health and injury than other sectors.⁵⁹

In agriculture, children frequently have to use sharp knives and machetes, frequently suffering injuries from these.⁶⁰ When these injuries are not adequately treated they fester in hot humid climates.

Skin irritation from certain kinds of work (such as work with burned sugar⁶¹), and cuts from pruned plants have also been noticed in agriculture.

Children working with silk cocoons in India are regularly injured by scalding water 62

Informal work can be very unhygienic and hazardous. The recycling of garbage is an example: it can be lucrative, but there is danger of injury and of exposure to toxic chemicals, and dangers from eating unhygienic left-over food.

Camel jockeys suffer a variety of injuries, from genital damage to sever brain damage and even death.⁶³

Some children have complained at dangers incurred in travelling to and from work, especially for girls.

Frequently, employers do not provide adequate medical care when children are injured, and wounds easily fester.

Children working on the streets are faced with aggressive or insulting behaviour from the public, assault and robbery from criminals on the streets, and often with aggression and harassment from the authorities. This harassment is aggravated when their work is perceived as illegal.

When work takes time away from sleep, this makes the children more prone to accidents, as well as interfering with their attention to schoolwork.⁶⁴

Psychosocial harm

Verbal abuse

The most frequent damage to children's psychological development from working is low self-esteem. Frequently children complain of the lack of respect in the way employers speak to them, particularly when they make mistakes. In one study in Bangladesh, 84 percent of the working children complained that they had insults and other hurtful words thrown at them.⁶⁵

Children complain at the humiliation of being slapped or reprimanded in public – in front of other children, or guests, or customers. 66 They point out that it is possible to correct errors with politeness and respect. The verbal abuse they receive can be damaging to the self-esteem of children.

This kind of lack of respect can be reinforced by the way other adults speak of and to working children, treating them as deviants without responsibility, and in need of rehabilitation – or simply regarding them as of low status rather than recognising their efforts to improve their lives.

Abusive behaviour also sometimes comes from older working children, who bully newcomers to the workplace, or from children in better-off families.

Emphasise inequality

The employment of children often underscores inequality in society. Rich children go to school and do not work: poor children work and often do not go to school. The distinction between working and non-working children therefore reinforces a culture of inequality.

While this is true, the work is not itself the cause of inequality. Indeed it is often the way in which poor children try to improve their economic situation and reduce inequality. One of the reasons children give for working is to achieve social recognition and resist marginalisation.⁶⁷ Stopping children from working may make liberal people feel more comfortable, but it does not necessarily improve the situation of the poor and reduce inequality.

Stress and lack of leisure

Fear and abuse lead to stress, which can damage a child's development. A work situation that allows no time for playing and prevents socialising with peers can exacerbate stress.

Stress also comes from excessive responsibility. Child domestic workers in Zimbabwe complained that young children should not be left alone with infants, and even older children should not be left in charge of the house.⁶⁸ This kind of responsibility is often imposed when children are in their own homes, as well as in paid domestic service.

Away from home

The African Movement of Working Children and Youth defend as one of their key twelve rights the "right to stay in the village". In explanation, they say that they should not be compelled by circumstances to seek incomes in the cities and away from their rural homes: rather there should be opportunities to earn the incomes they need in their homes.

In many parts of the world, children move from rural to urban areas in search of better incomes, better lives, or even better schooling. Such movement may also take place between rural areas to gain access to the better resources of a particular area, such as better agricultural conditions, or the presence of mineral resources, or fishing grounds. Sometimes in this process, they are victims acting under adult compulsion, in which case there is a clear violation of their rights. Sometimes they are willing economic migrants, in which case the issue of rights is not so clear. Sometimes children wish to leave home to escape violence or abuse.⁶⁹

When the work place requires that children live away from home their right to contact with their parents (if they have these) may be violated. The presence of family usually provides some protection from abuse.

Sometimes the movement takes place within the extended family in a manner that is culturally approved and helps to socialise children in family responsibilities (I shall return to this point in the discussion of domestic work below). Sometimes the children receive regular visits at work from the parents, who are thus able to check on the situation of the children and remove them if necessary.

Sometimes the children perceive such visits as lacking in care, and motivated solely to collect their wages.⁷⁰

Away from home, children are often without emotional support. Sometimes they lack contact with peers. They are vulnerable to abuse. Further, the children often do not have the resources to return home if they wish to, a situation that may be deliberately engineered by the employers. In such a case, their work becomes akin to slavery. In some kinds of work, such as fishing, there is no way back home until the season ends or the employer with the boat agrees to help.⁷¹

Most of this kind of movement occurs within the borders of a country. The movement may be facilitated by friends and relatives, in which case there is a good chance that the children will maintain contact with their families. Sometimes, however, the movement is facilitated by persons who make money out of finding children for employers. In such cases, children are enticed away from home by promises of high salaries and a better life, which fall short of what is given to the children in practice.

The parents may be willing partners to these movements of children, in the hope or illusion that the children will thereby benefit. It may also be that children are sold to traffickers in a desperate bid to handle the family economy.

When the movement crosses national frontiers, children become more vulnerable. Again, there may be an element of voluntary migration, when children cross an international frontier for better economic opportunities, or better schooling, or to visit kin.⁷² Children from poor families or poor areas often do not have the resources to obtain legal authority for such movement. In such a case, they sometimes employ the help of "traffickers", but remain vulnerable both during the journey and on arrival at their destination because of the illegal nature of their travel, making it impossible for them to claim any legal rights.

Children would not willingly engage in the most severe and harmful conditions of work, such as the sex trade, or fisheries, or certain types of agriculture. So it is precisely these most exploitative forms of labour that sometimes rely on abducting children, or luring them away with false promises, and taking them far from home to a place where they can expect no help or support.⁷³

In the worst forms of child trafficking, children may be physically abducted from their homes. Alternatively, they may travel voluntarily under false pretences. Their journeys are often extremely uncomfortable, and very hazardous. When they arrive at their destination, they are forced to work in harsh and exploitative conditions, with little possibility of escape. Girls in particular may be forced to take part in sex work. They have little chance of contacting their families.⁷⁴

Deprivation of education

Widespread in the literature are broad statistical inverse correlations between non-schoolwork on the one hand, and school performance or attendance on the other. A common assumption is that work outside school takes children's time and energy away from school.⁷⁵ When children are compelled to work for long hours, they are thereby deprived of education. Full-time work, therefore, at ages when education is compulsory deprives children of the right to education. Some studies suggest that significant part-time work, whether at home or in economic activities, can also affect school attendance.⁷⁶

Sometimes, children are withdrawn from school and sent into employment for the economic benefits for the family. This may be a matter of necessity for the family, but the children's right to education is thereby violated and the families need support.

Often, however, the children look for employment after they have dropped out of school for other reasons. It may be a lack of funding to pay for school expenses, or it may be the perception that the schooling available to them is of no benefit to them. Sometimes children and their families perceive school to be less important than learning a trade, which will help them later in life.⁷⁷ In some cases, school can be humiliating and harmful to the children, especially when they suffer physical or psychological abuse at the hands of the teachers. When children are in employment rather than at school for these reasons, their right to education is violated by the failure of the educational system, and work provides an alternative way to spend their time constructively.

Assumptions that school is incompatible with part-time employment are not generally supported by data.

School and work are not always in competition for the time of children. A study in the USA showed that time spent in employment was generally taken from passive activities, such as watching television or "hanging around" rather than from school work or social activities. Studies in less developed countries have also shown that work and school are not always in direct competition for time: improving school attendance can have a relatively small impact on employment, taking time rather from leisure and other activities. Sometimes school takes time from work and vice versa, 79 but this does not necessarily mean that work affects the achievements of the children at school.

Simple correlations between poor performance and attendance at school on the one hand and part-time work on the other do not indicate the precise relationship between cause and effect. When intervening variables, such as poverty and education of parents, are taken into account, the relationship between work and educational outcomes is not strong and not precise. Indeed some studies show a positive relationship between limited work and school performance, in both short and long terms.⁸⁰

When children want to combine economic work with their schooling, therefore, their wishes should be respected unless in particular circumstances the two are shown to be incompatible or the work is shown to be harmful.

If it is conceded that children sometimes have a right to work, or that in certain circumstances they have to work for survival, they still have a right to education.⁸¹ This right may be violated at the workplace, when insufficient time is allowed for education. It may also be violated by the failure to provide appropriate education that is compatible with the children's work in time and accessibility.

It should be noted that children can be abused at school, including having excessive loads of schoolwork imposed on them. This can cause both psychological and physical harm, and is no less disastrous for the children than excessive economic activity.⁸²

Deprivation of freedom

Children complain that they lack freedom in their work. This partly relates to inflexible routines.

More serious is the widespread persistence of bonded labour, in which children are forced to work to pay off family debts, and in which they have no say over the type of work or its conditions.⁸³ Also more serious is the enslavement of children trafficked away from their homes. Sometimes children are put in shackles and chains by parents for refusing to work.⁸⁴

Even when children freely choose employment, they can be prevented from leaving in a variety of ways. Funds can be withheld, making it impossible to return home. Sometimes they are beaten if they try to escape the work situation. Sometimes in a society in which children are frequently physically punished, the fear of a beating suffices to keep control over them.⁸⁵

When children are fostered out, because of the death of their parents or the inability of their parents to provide for them, they are sometimes compelled to work for their living. Indeed, sometimes people foster children precisely to acquire a virtual domestic slave.⁸⁶

Causes of harmful work

There has been considerable discussion on the causes of harmful work. Most of these focus on environments that pressurise children to work, but the work sometimes results from decisions by the children, to avoid a worse situation or in the hope of a better or more exciting life.⁸⁷

Culture

In the past it has been suggested that children undertake economic work rather than go to school primarily because it is accepted in particular cultures. Such views now appear too simplistic to encompass most situations. Throughout the world, even poor people see the potential value of sending their children to school. The decision that they should do other work instead depends on a variety of factors, often economic, but including the failure of the educational system. Nevertheless, there are cultural environments in which the children of certain classes, or castes, or ethnic groups, are perceived to be better employed in economic activities than at school.⁸⁸ Such cultures can be influential among other factors and need to be opposed.

In certain cultural contexts, parents insist that children are involved in the generation of income rather than going to school. A study in India pointed out that parents often believed children were born to serve and support them and saw nothing wrong in children not being in school or not being able to play.⁸⁹ A report on Bosnia and Herzegovina describes children, often of migrant Romani families, who are forced to make money for the family usually by begging on the streets⁹⁰. Such attitudes are, however, rare. Even among poor communities, education is generally valued and parents try to send their children to school if they can afford it⁹¹.

Another cultural value that sometimes results in excessive workloads being imposed on children is the allocation to children of certain tasks, such as herding domestic animals or collecting firewood. There is also often an assumption that children should always respond to requests by senior family members, and that this has priority over any leisure activity.⁹²

Cultural values can keep children from work. A study in a Bangladesh slum showed 60 percent of the 12-16 age group working for pay, but only 20 percent of the 8-11 groups and 2 percent of the 5-7 group.⁹³ These groups were generally considered too young for paid employment and even poor parents would try to keep their young children from employment.

Related to culture is the education of children's parents. Several studies have shown that increased education of parents reduces the probability of their children working in place of going to school.

Poverty

One of the key issues in compelling children to work is poverty. Children often point out that they are working because of their poverty. It is widely established that generally (though with exceptions) children do more work in poorer societies. At the household level, poverty often correlates statistically with children working even when other controls are considered.⁹⁴ Often, however, poverty combines with other factors in withdrawing children from school and forcing them to do other work.

Many poor families manage to send their children to school until some other crisis hits them, such as crop failure, or the death or departure of the main breadwinner. Then their coping mechanisms are no longer adequate and one or more children may be compelled to contribute to family income.⁹⁵ Research in Tanzania suggests that access to credit can help to overcome this kind of shock and keep more children in school.⁹⁶ Improved food security also appears to increase the number of children at school and decrease the number in full-time work.⁹⁷

It has been pointed out that in Africa, much of the work of children occurs on family plots of land or, less often, in family enterprises. This kind of work depends on the family having some resources to utilise. Consequently, it is often not the very poorest children that are working excessively, and at the household level the link between poverty and children's economic work is loose.⁹⁸

Other problems

Poverty is a major problem that drives children to work, but it is not the only one.⁹⁹ We have seen that failure in the education system can also result in children seeking work. Death of parents means that many children have to fend for themselves. Abuse at home, whether from one's own parents, or from extended kin, or step- or foster parents, can result in children seeking independence and trying to support themselves. Often such forces drive the child away from home, and leave him or her unprotected and with little alternative to full-time work.

Availability of work

The availability of employment affects the number of children working and the number of hours they do. Classically agriculture requires labour, especially seasonal labour. The greater the proportion of a population involved in agriculture, the more likely is it that many children will be involved in working.

It has been suggested with reference to India that the structure of the labour market is an influential factor in the number of children working. Where the employers have control over social lives of their employees, and able to keep wages below the family subsistence level, they can develop low-paid jobs for women and children, creating a demand for child labour. ¹⁰⁰ In such cases, interventions should target the employers.

Lack of information

Many children leave their homes in the hopes of finding a better life elsewhere. They may be encouraged by misinformation from traffickers, or there may be a lack of awareness of the difficulties of life in big cities. Information about realistic opportunities is lacking.

Children who are abused are often unaware of their rights, or of institutions that might protect their rights. Education in child rights can reduce violence against children.

Focus

Much of the work of children has both positive and negative factors. The boundaries between forms that predominantly benefit children and those that harm children are not always clear. Forms of work that are initially benign easily slip into more exploitative forms of work. On the other hand, people who see the positive factors, are likely to resist campaigns that do not recognise these and talk only of abolition, depicting such campaigns as ethnocentric pressure from outside.¹⁰¹

This problem may be partly overcome by advocacy on precisely what makes work harmful to children, making communities – including concerned employers – aware of the problems that children face.¹⁰²

Specific areas of concern

Some sectors have received particular attention in the literature. Here I point to areas that pose conceptual problems and differences of opinion.

Work within families

Children's perceptions about harmful work extends to work in the home, which is often omitted from surveys on child labour. One document by children lists work appropriate to girls and boys of different ages, making no reference to whether or not the work is paid employment. Ohildren in South Africa have commented on the heavy burden of carrying water and collecting firewood, the latter point also made by the children of Bhima Sangha in India. Ohildren in the Philippines considered work abusive when work forces them to leave school or forces them into prostitution or dealing with drugs, but they also considered work at home abusive when it is demanded unfairly:

when a child works like a slave at home when the youngest sibling is not given work to do;

and when

a child is not through doing one chore and is already asked to do another. 105

Household work is an area in which gender discrimination typically occurs, with heavy demands made on girls, who consequently may have little time for leisure.

Work within the family is more difficult to monitor than formal employment, and harder to assess. Domestic work in particular is regarded as non-economic work when performed in the child's own family and is often omitted from surveys of work.

Nevertheless, domestic work can be exploitative¹⁰⁶ and burdensome on children and as disruptive as other work, involving children in long hours.¹⁰⁷ It can also involve carrying heavy loads. A study in Egypt showed that the domestic work of girls had a similar relationship to their schooling as did the market work of boys.¹⁰⁸ Even relatively well-off girls are sometimes forced to run a household in the absence of parents, disrupting their school work.¹⁰⁹

Particularly disruptive is the involvement of children in caring for the sick in their families. This sometimes involves the child withdrawing from school altogether. One study in Britain indicates young carers frequently suffer from stress and sometimes from health problems of their own, and about 70 percent develop psychological problems as adults.¹¹⁰ The problem becomes acute where many adults are incapacitated by HIV/AIDS, when young carers have also to take over housework and the care of young siblings.¹¹¹ While children involved in this kind of work are arguably those most in need of support, their work has received little attention in the literature on child labour.

A girl aged 13 in South Africa reported:

I go to my grandmother's house in the morning before school, to wash her and dress her and after school I go straight to her place to do things for her. I cook for her, my sister fetches most of the water for her. I am forced to do this because my grandmother cannot do anything for herself. She cannot go to toilet alone, she defecates where she is, walks with a stick. I have to tidy up everything. 112

Domestic work easily spills over into helping in family projects. In Africa, the most common form of child work is on family farms. While such work can be benign, it can also be exploitative, taking up much of children's time, imposing heavy burdens, and interfering with schooling. Bhima Sangha's submission to the UN secretariat commented:

In several parts of India, especially in drought prone areas, there is a severe shortage of fodder. Some of our members who are from such regions report that they have to take their sheep to far away fields for grazing. Sometimes they have to stay in those fields, for many nights and days, without any protection or safety.

In countries where manufacturing is farmed out to households, children often become involved in the work at a young age. This can be relatively benign, with the children able to work flexible hours and combine this work with schooling. In some situations, the presence of home-based manufacturing increases the chances of children combining work with school rather than abandoning school for work.¹¹³ On the other hand, it can effectively result in bonded labour, when parents take out loans against the labour of their children.¹¹⁴

Domestic employment

Child domestic work has received considerable attention. Several studies point to the extreme vulnerability of child domestic workers to abuse, by being kept away from home – sometimes in conditions of virtual slavery, by being forced to work long hours, by physical and psychological abuse, and underscoring social inequality between the worker and the family of the employer. When children live with their employers, there is no division between the place of work and the place of rest, hours are rarely defined, and children are on call 24 hours a day. Often the children are dependent on their employers to visit their families, and the employers may be reluctant to let them go. Sometimes children are incarcerated in the employers' homes.¹¹⁵

Because of the vulnerability of children to these kinds of abuses, some people suggest that this sector should be classified as one of the worst forms of child labour and a violation of children's rights. Two of the criteria of the worst forms often apply to domestic labour. One is that domestic work may involve forced or compulsory labour: children are sometimes forced to work by parents, guardians or employers and are sometimes prevented from leaving their work by employers. This is exacerbated when the children are removed far from their family home in order to work. Evidence suggests that, especially in West Africa and South Asia, child domestic workers are frequently abused, and often carried to their employers as an element in commercial child trafficking.

Second, work can be classified as one of the worst forms of child labour when by its nature or by the circumstances in which it is carried out, it is likely to harm the health, safety, or morals of children. Excessive hours, lack of sleep, unsafe practices, and various forms of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse, can bring domestic work into this category. Working in isolation or at night may also be harmful to the child. Child domestic workers may be left with the heavy

responsibility of looking after the home in the absence of employers, even overnight.

Not all child domestic work, however, is as abusive as this, and perhaps it is appropriate to listen to the children and look at specific jobs and specific work situations rather than condemn a whole sector. It is interesting to compare two reports on child domestic work in Morocco. One by Human Rights Watch focuses on children whose situation is intolerable. Another by Sommerfelt equally points to the abuse and suffering of child domestic workers, but also points out that some of the girls feel they have benefited from the employment and have no desire to return to their rural villages.¹¹⁸

One of the problems of definition of domestic employment lies in definitions of households. While it might be tempting to condemn domestic work performed outside one's own family, this may be problematic for children who do not have a family, and in societies where "family" is defined broadly. In some societies, over a third of children are even today brought up away from their parental homes. This has the effect of spreading household security, giving the children a chance to travel and learn from elsewhere, and socialising them in responsibilities to extended kin. Children may be helped by a wealthy kinsperson or friend in exchange for services. Such arrangements can impose on the patron responsibility for substantial gifts at the end of the service to set the child up for life. Some children are able to continue their schooling precisely through part-time employment as domestic workers. Such children may express pride in the fact they have been able to improve their lives through their own efforts. 120

Relocating to kin for social reasons or to provide care for the children is not always clearly marked off from relocation to work.¹²¹ Children sent to stay with kin and help them under cultural obligations may be exploited by the kin, compelled to work long hours and without pay or schooling.¹²² Even relocation for religious education can result in exploitation of children by the adults responsible for teaching them.¹²³

Child domestic employment is easily concealed by the employer and the child adopting terms of kinship towards each other. The employers sometimes suggest that they are adopting the child into the family and therefore helping them out.¹²⁴ Such an attitude can work in the child's favour, when the child receives emotional and social support from the employers' family and feels included.¹²⁵

The ideology of being taken into the family can also work against the child, because the child does not receive the rights of an employee, with clearly stated tasks and hours and benefits. Child domestic workers rarely receive the same educational support as children of the employers' family, and they often have poorer living and eating conditions. Sometimes the working children are kept apart from children of the household, who may contribute to the abuse of the workers, thereby emphasising the status difference between working and non-working children. We notice that domestic service generally in many countries is low status work, often taken up by disadvantaged minority groups and immigrants.

Because domestic service closely resembles exchanges of service between kin, some countries have argued that domestic work should not be subject to the normal labour laws, whether for adults or children.¹²⁶

When orphans or poor children find a patron, within or outside the extended family, this may be a way of improving their lives and even their schooling. It

does not appear to be helpful to them to exclude such possibilities in a blanket ban on child domestic work.

Such patronage, however, can also be means of exploitation. Extended family, kin, step- or foster parents sometimes make excessive demands on the children and treat them badly. Some kin treat children very badly, while some unrelated employers (even of under-age children) treat their child employees very well. Sometimes, better off families take in the children of poorer kin in order to do all the housework and to relieve their own children to focus on school work.¹²⁷ I have pointed out that children may be adopted precisely to obtain a virtual domestic slave.

Even when children are not treated well, they still sometimes prefer to be employed than to return home. Sometimes they find ways of taking from employers what they believe they deserve.¹²⁸ In my study of child domestic workers in Zimbabwe, the majority wanted improvements to the way they were treated, but only a minority wanted to give up employment altogether.

Sex work

Adults have agreed that sex work is an intolerable form of child labour, harmful to them physically, socially, and psychologically. The declaration of the World Movement of Working Children in Berlin in 2004 spoke of the sex trade as a criminal activity, not to be confused with their more dignified work. Some children have declared, however, that they see it is a form of work, a way of earning an income, which they sometimes see as not as bad as the bleak alternatives available to them.

In the worst scenario, children may be sold and taken from their homes in the sex trade, either through lack of attachment to their families or the inability of their family to cope with crisis. When the family is not involved in the initial entry into the sex trade, children usually acquire a stigma in this activity, and the family may be reluctant to take a child back when the child is trying to escape and return home.

Young people in the sex trade are often ashamed of their work and are not aware that they are victims of abuse, or they believe that they are partly to blame. Often they do not like to speak of their work through an underlying sense of guilt and the difficulties they face in getting out of the trade.¹²⁹

But the reluctance to speak may also result from fear of being further denigrated by society. There is a danger that their situation is worsened by moral condemnation.

In the seven years I was working, night after night, I thought it was me, that I was wrong. The police would always chase me and social workers called me a pervert. There was no one there to validate that I was victimised. 130

Like adults in sex work, children may lose their autonomy and freedom, falling under the control of abusive pimps.

Particularly vulnerable are children who have been taken away from home for the purpose of the sex trade. These children are often ignorant or naïve about what they are entering, and communities need to be informed and warned. The children may be taken to another country on the understanding that they would be entering legitimate employment, only to be sexually abused on arrival.¹³¹ Usually, they are without any support and do not know where to turn for help.

Outreach work into areas where they are working is required to find them and offer assistance.¹³²

Even in the sex trade, there is need for care in how we perceive the children, and to pay attention to the way they perceive their world and their work in order not to denigrate their persons further. In particular cultural situations, sex work does not carry the immoral connotations that it carries in much of the developed world, and the children do not necessarily see themselves as being abused. Occasionally children may see their relationships with some clients as friendly and caring rather than as a commercial transaction, and so they and their peers become more vulnerable to being drawn into it, especially if they lack a caring family life. 133 Others have their own way of perceiving sex as work, and of acquiring status within the trade. 134 Street children may consider the sex trade as work – another way of earning a living, like shoplifting, and quite congenial and lucrative. 135

O'Connell Davidson, who has studied the sex trade widely, makes the point that children's agency and perceptions should not be ignored here. Often they and their clients see young prostitutes as able to make their own choices. The children, like adult sex workers, make this choice often because of the bleakness of alternatives in their own lives. 136

In all such cases, a simple moral condemnation of their work can be damaging to the children. Intervention requires good communication so that both interveners and children can find a way to improve the lives of the children. A study in Vietnam shows some young prostitutes acquiring a purpose in their lives, and skills in managing and protecting themselves through their work. Others were more powerless and badly abused. It was disrespect for their human dignity that hurt the most.¹³⁷ We must be sure that interventions do not add to this disrespect.

One study in Thailand points to the lucrative nature of the sex trade. While the oldest daughter in the family is expected to work hard in the home, younger daughters may be expected to contribute to the families' status by earning substantial amounts through the sex trade. The motive here is not so much to relieve poverty as to obtain symbols of status.¹³⁸ Successful intervention must take account of such situations.

Related to children in the sex trade are situations in which children grow up with mothers in the sex trade. A study has been done in Bangladesh on children who were growing up in the brothel environment in which their mothers were engaged as sex workers.¹³⁹ The conditions of such children may be improved both by paying attention to their mothers, whose attitudes towards their children and the future can change with appropriate opportunities, and by providing save houses for the children away from the work places of their mothers.

Illegal activities

There has been little research on children in illegal activities. One notable exception is Dowdney's study of children in the drug trade in Rio de Janeiro. Although dealers do not deliberately recruit children, they are happy to utilise their help and employ children, paying them for their work. Children are drawn into the trade through social association with dealers on the street, and through a lack of alternative prospects to improve their lives, often entering full-time

employment between 10 and 15. As one 15-year-old commented, "This is what I want. I don't like it, but this is what I chose for me." ¹⁴⁰

The gangs also give the children an identity and status in an organisation, together with some excitement. Once employed in the trade, they are considered legitimate targets by rival gangs, even when not armed. Although traders claim that children should not carry weapons, their perception is that some children mature at an early age, and children as young as 13 and 14 often carry guns. Hese children quickly become involved in control within their community and in battles between rival gangs and with the police. Children in organisations are indoctrinated to hate rival gangs. As a result, many children are shot and killed. In the 14-year period from 1987 to 2001, 3 937 children (persons under 18) were killed due to injuries related to small arms In 2000, 31% of deaths of under 18s were related to firearms.

Dowdney points out that this involvement of children in trade and warfare over drugs takes place in the context of communities in which there is limited government presence, in which social control is exercised by persons outside government, in which access to formal labour markets is limited (particularly by inadequate education), and in the context of repressive and corrupt policing. It cannot be dealt with simply as a criminal matter, nor is any intervention that directly confronts the drug traffickers likely to succeed. Rather, an approach is required that provide children with alternative perspectives from a very young age, including alternative cultural activities, alternative organisation, better education, and improved and realistic prospects to improve their lives in other ways.¹⁴⁴

He further points out that any rehabilitation of children must take into account their experience and participation in violence.

Improving the situation of children

There is much documentation of violence to children in the workplace. It is not, however, clear that simply banning the workplace will remove violence to children and improve their lives.

Respect

Children complain bitterly about lack of respect to their persons. Respect for children in the workplace is an important step towards mitigating and removing violence towards them. This requirement applies to the employers of children, and to agencies that try to help them. Intervention must be based on understanding the children in their social context, rather than on moral assumptions about behaviour perceived to be deviant. And respect evidently requires that the children's own opinions and suggestions about their situation be heard and be taken seriously.

Enforcement of legislation

When children are found to be in intolerable situations, some kind of rescue is urgently needed, together with appropriate punishment of those who abuse the children. In rescuing children from such situations, interventions must ensure that the situation of the children is not thereby worsened. There is also need to ensure that the child's self-esteem, possibly seriously damaged by the work situation, is further not damaged in the rescue operation. There is also a danger that the rescued child simply makes way for another: removing a child from bonded labour sometimes results in the burden of debt being passed to a younger sibling.¹⁴⁵

To ensure that the child's self-esteem is promoted, and that the interests of the child are fully catered for, it is important to engage with children to be rescued and listen to their suggestions on how their situation might be improved. Such participation on the part of the children concerned helps to provide an understanding of the total situation of the child.

Some of the violence to children and adults could be mitigated by enforcing legislation on labour standards and particularly on safety standards at work, with punishment of employers who breach these standards. Exposure of the breach of standards by monitoring organisations is helpful and to be encouraged. When children face problems in work that are also faced by adults, attention should be directed to the social environment rather than specifically to children.

It is not clear that enforcing minimum age legislation is always to the advantage of children. If such legislation is to be enforced, care should be taken that appropriate light work for children below the minimum age of employment is specified and made legal, including relevant conditions of work and hours. A blanket ban results in resistance from children and their families, as well as from employers, some of whom are concerned about the welfare of children in their

communities. Working children should rather receive no less protection in their work than do adults.

Advocacy

Because much of children's work is outside formal sector, legislation on its own is not likely to be effective. The informal sector is difficult to monitor, and legislation can not easily be enforced. Advocacy is required to change where necessary ideas on what is appropriate for children to do in the home and elsewhere. It should aim not only at removing children from harmful work, but also at improving conditions of children who are working legally (which is likely also to improve the conditions for all children). The aim should be to indicate to the community problems that children often face and to enlighten communities on precisely what makes work harmful to children. It should thus cover both work that is inappropriate for children and unacceptable conditions of work that is not in itself harmful. This helps people to draw the necessary boundaries between benign work and harmful work in all sectors. Advocacy should also raise problems for particular children, such as those based on gender or ethnicity.

Such advocacy can be particularly effective if children are themselves involved. Videos showing children speaking about their own cause provide a particularly powerful form of advocacy.¹⁴⁸

Child participation

In some cases of intolerable work, the situation is urgent and action must be taken even before the children are properly consulted. Nevertheless, as soon as possible, and as much as possible, the children should be empowered to participate in decisions that affect their lives.

Consulting the children and involving them in strategies has a number of advantages. It ensures attention to what the children perceive as the most problematic areas of their work, rather than on what makes adults feel uncomfortable. Involving the children in collecting information ensures that the information reflects the reality of working children's lives. Participation in collecting and interpreting information encourages the active participation of children in projects, which can make them more effective: the involvement of children in lobbying is particularly powerful. This kind of participation enables children to take actions themselves and helps to inform their communities about the problems of child workers.¹⁴⁹

The participation of children in defining and solving their problems has a beneficial effect on the children, over and above its usefulness for effective intervention. Participation improves the self-esteem of working children. It helps them to express themselves. It improves their social relations generally, and their confidence in the future. It enables them to fight for improvement of their working conditions.¹⁵⁰

A very successful means internationally of encouraging children's participation in work situations is through organisations of working children. Such organisations encourage children to meet and share their problems, finding ways of alleviating them. Children's organisations are able to reach many

children who do not have contact with adult help. Although these organisations are denied the status of trades unions, they continue to fight for the rights of working children and for the development of their communities generally.¹⁵¹ A wide range of adults in this field acknowledge that status and attention should be given to these organisations.¹⁵²

Focus of action

The aim of intervention must be in the best interests of the particular children to be helped. It must aim to improve the lives of vulnerable children. This requires analysis of particular situations in which children suffer violence, and the particular rights that are being violated.

Rather than a general concern with labour as a problem, it would help to focus on the particular rights of children that are being violated in any situation. In this case the labour of children is seen as a symptom or guide to indicate which children most need attention. The children themselves can provide the guide as to precisely where and how this attention might best be applied. A good example of this in the Philippines is described by Rialp: through consultation with the children and an analysis of the situation a programme to eliminate child labour became successfully embedded in a programme to relieve poverty.¹⁵³

Poverty alleviation

Poverty alleviation can reduce the number of children in the work place in both the short and the long term, and improve the bargaining power of children who wish to work. Particularly important is improvement of food security, and help in emergencies.

Alternative income

There have been some successful attempts to entice children away from work and into school by paying a stipend to the children or their families, dependent on their attending school regularly and doing the assigned work.¹⁵⁴ Such policies invariably increase school attendance (which is their purpose), although they do not always result in a parallel decline in work.¹⁵⁵

There can be difficulties in this policy. One is to ensure it is sustainable: it is not sufficient simply to compensate current workers without ensuring that the younger cohorts from the same communities will be catered for. This means that such a programme should be able to rely on local funding rather than depend on outside aid, which is likely to be limited in duration. Further, one needs to ensure that children withdrawn from work to go to school are not simply replaced at work by other children from the family or community. Another problem is to ensure that the stipends are received by the targeted group rather than by betteroff families who might also wish to benefit. The cost effectiveness of such programmes in poor countries has been seriously questioned. 157

Whenever funding is made available to help children who are thrown out of work, the needs of younger cohorts of children need to be considered. The conscience of western liberals is made more comfortable if the children thrown out of employment are compensated, and no further children are admitted to employment.¹⁵⁸ Such arrangements discriminate against the younger children who may at some stage need incomes.

Occasionally, projects to provide alternative forms of income have enabled children to move out of the worst forms of child labour or to keep children from seeking incomes elsewhere. These include income-generating activities through gardening and animal husbandry, as well as crafts, enabling children to earn at home rather than migrate for work.¹⁵⁹ Income can be helped by the sale of products in Europe with a guarantee that they are made by children in dignified working conditions and without prejudice to their education.¹⁶⁰ Such income generation responds to requests by children, but in stretched economies it is sometimes difficult to find profitable niches for children.

Perhaps benign employment could be an efficient form of income generation. The South and Central Asian Convergence of Working Children – Nepal met at Kathmandu in August 2005, and their declaration included this statement:

We believe that we need to come out of the hazardous working situations by means of appropriate alternatives like respectful, paid work with minimum wage; and standard and equal opportunity of quality education without discrimination.

Information and education

There have been some attempts to inform children in rural areas about the problems they might face if they go to the cities in search of a better life. The effectiveness of such campaigns remains to be assessed.

It is helpful to introduce institutions that are readily accessible to children in need of help, including free-phone lines. Such institutions need to be widely advertised.

Improving the educational system can make children less vulnerable to violence at the workplace. Schools should be accessible and affordable. Quality of teaching should be such that children and their families see the benefits of schooling. Education can include vocational programmes that give children more options and bargaining power.

Where children must be involved in economic activity, education should be provided that can be combined with work. This does not mean, however, that children's right to education can be satisfied by poor quality, part-time education.¹⁶¹ There have been some attempts to provide working children with education geared precisely for their lives.¹⁶²

Conclusion: Whose problem?

I conclude by reflecting on whose problem we are trying to solve. One problem is the discomfort of middle-class liberals at seeing children working in areas that do not suit their image of childhood. They consider this cruel if it involves work for livelihood: less attention is paid to children compelled to work long hours at school, or sport, or the arts.

For children, "child labour" is a problem when they are compelled by adults to work in adults' interests, or when the conditions of work are extreme and damaging to their health and development.

But in most cases, for children the work is a partial, perhaps temporary, solution to larger problems. It may be the means of livelihood. It may be a way of acquiring independence from an intolerable situation. It may be a way of occupying themselves when school has failed them. It may be a way of exercising responsibility and acquiring self-esteem and status with in their families. It may be a way of surviving in the absence of an effective family. It may be a way of avoiding alternatives that are even worse, including sometimes abuse at home. If in these cases the work is harmful to the children, this is a symptom of problems for the children rather than being the major problem. When work provides for the children a relief from something worse, it is violence against the children to remove their solution as though it were the problem, rather than to discern and deal with the root problem.

Children's lives are more likely to be improved by providing them with more and better options, than by removing the option they have chosen to try to improve themselves.

References

- Alber, Erdmute. "Grandparents as Foster-Parents: Transformations in Foster Relations between Grandparents and Grandchildren in Northern Benin." Africa 74, no. 1 (2004): 28-45.
- Andvig, Jens Chr. "Child Labour in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Exploration." Forum for Development Studies 2 (1998): 327-62.
- Asghar, Syed Mehmood, Sabir Farhat, and Shereen Niaz. Camel Jockeys of Rahimyar Khan: Findings of a Participatory Research on Life and Situation of Child Camel Jockeys. Peshawar, Pakistan: Save the Children Sweden, Pakistan Programme, 2005.
- Assaad, Ragui, Deborah Levison, and Nadia Zibani. "The Effect of Child Work on Schooling: Evidence from Egypt." 2005.
- Beegle, Kathleen, Rajeev H. Dehejia, and Robert Gatti. "Child Labor, Income Shocks, and Access to Credit." http://www.worldbank.org.sp.childlabor.documents: World Bank, 2003.
- Bhalotra, Sonia. "Child Labour in Africa." In OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2003.
- Bissell, Susan. "Incentives to Education and Child Labour Elimination: A Case Study of Bangladesh." In Small Hands in South Asia: Child Labour in Perspective, edited by G.K. Lieten, Ravi Srivastava and Sukhadeo Thorat, 269-89. Manohar, 2004.
- Black, Maggie. A Handbook on Advocacy. Child Domestic Workers: Finding a Voice.: Anti-Slavery International, 2002.
- ——. Opening Minds, Opening up Opportunities. London: Save the Children, 2004.
- Blagbrough, Johnathan, and Edmund Glynn. "Child Domestic Workers: Characteristics of the Modern Slave and Approaches to Ending Such Exploitation." Childhood 6, no. 1 (1999): 51-56.
- Blanchet, Thérèse. "Child Work in a Bihari Camp and in the Benarasi Sari Industry of Mirpur." Stockholm: Save the Children Sweden, 2001.
- Lost Innocence, Stolen Childhoods. Dhaka: The University Press Limited, 1996.
- ——. ""Slave for a Season": The Dulabhangas and Other Cheap Labour in the Bangladesh Dry Fish Industry." Dhaka: Save the Children, Sweden-Denmark, 2005.
- Blanchet, Thérèse, Anisa Zaman and, and Masuda AktarLucki. "Slavery Revisited: Adopting a Child to Secure a Servant: Palok Meye, Palok Chele." Dhakar: Save the Children, Sweden-Denmark, 2004.
- Bourdillon, Michael. Child Domestic Workers in Zimbabwe. Harare: Weaver Press, 2006.
- ——. "Translating Standards into Practice: Confronting Local Barriers." In Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter, edited by Burns Weston, 143-66. Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner: Lynne Reiner, 2005.

- Bourdillon, Michael, and Rumbidzai Rurevo. Girls on the Street. Harare: Weaver Press, 2003.
- Boyden, Jo, Birgitta Ling, and William Myers. What Works for Working Children. Stockholm: Rädda Barnen & UNICEF, 1998.
- Budlender, Debbie, and Dawie Bosch. "South Africa: Child Domestic Workers." Geneva: International Labour Organisation, 2002.
- Burra, Neera. Born to Work: Child Labour in India. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- Call, Kathleen T. "Adolescent Work as 'an Arena of Comfort'." In Adolescents, Work, and Family: An Intergenerational Developmental Analysis, edited by J. T. Mortimer and M. D. Finch, 129-66. Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi: Sage Publications, 1996b.
- Che, Hie-Joang. "Children in the Examination War in South Korea: A Cultural Analysis." In Children and the Politics of Culture, edited by Sharon Stephens, 141-58. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1995.
- Child Workers in Nepal Concerned Centre. "A Situational Analaysis of Child Sex Tourism in Nepal (Kathmandu Valley and Pokhara." 2003.
- Children of Balkur Panchayat. Work We Can and Cannot Do. Bangalore: The Concerned for Working Children, 1999.
- Clacherty, Glynis. "Report on a Children's Participation Process: Towards a South African Child Labour Programme." Pretoria: Department of Labour, 2002.
- Cussiánovich, Alejandro. "Some Premises for Reflection and Social Practices with Working Children and Adolescents." In Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India, edited by Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien and Albert Rechnagel, 103-32. Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001.
- Dearden, Christopher, and Saul Becker. "The Experience of Young Carers in the United Kingdom: The Mental Health Issues." Mental Health Care 21, no. 8 (1999): 273-76.
- Delap, Emily. "Economic and Cultural Forces in the Child Labour Debate: Evidence from Urban Bangladesh." The Journal of Development Studies 37, no. 5 (2001): 1-22.
- ———. Planning Working Children's Education: A Guide for Education Sector Planners. London: Save the Children, 2004.
- ——. "Urban Children'S Work During and after the 1998 Floods in Bangladesh." Development in Practice 10, no. 5 (2000): 662-73.
- Delap, Emily, Boureima Ouedraogo, and Bakary Sogoba. "Developing Alternatives to the Worst Forms of Child Labour in Mali and Burkina Faso." Save the Children Sweden, 2005.
- Dessy, Sylvian E., and Stéphane Pallage. "A Theory of the Worst Forms of Child Labour." The Economic Journal 115 (2005): 68-87.
- Dev, S. Mahendra, and C. Ravi. "Food Security and Child Work in South India: Determinants and Policies." In Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work, edited by Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massün, 192-215. New Delhi: Institute for Human Development and UN World Food Programme, 2002.
- dos Santos, Benedito Rodrigues. "Combating Child Labor in Brazil: Social Movements in Action." In Child Labor and Human Rights: Making

- Children Matter, edited by Burns Weston, 209-32. Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005.
- Dowdney, Luke. Children of the Drug Trade: A Case Study of Children in Organised Armed Violence in Rio De Janeiro. Rio de Janeiro: Viveiros de Castro Editora Ltda, 2003.
- Ennew, Judith, William Myers, and Dominique Pierre Plateau. "Defining Child Labor as If Human Rights Really Matter." In Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter, edited by Burns Weston, 27-54. Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005.
- Equations. "A Situational Analysis of Child Sex Tourism in India (Kerala and Goa)." Equations, 2003.
- Eversole, Helena, and Senija Tahirovic. "Research on Child Trafficking in Bosnia and Herzegovina." Oslo: Save the Children, Norway, 2004.
- Field, Norma. "The Child as Laborer and Consumer: The Disappearance of Childhood in Contemporary Japan." In Children and the Politics of Culture, edited by Sharon Stephens, 51-78. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1995.
- Grootaert, Christiaan, and Harry Anthony Patrinos. "Policies to Reduce Child Labor." In The Policy Analysis of Child Labor: A Comparative Study., edited by Christiaan Grootaert and Harry Anthony Patrinos, 153-68. London: Macmillan, 1999.
- ——, eds. The Policy Analysis of Child Labor: A Comparative Study. London: Macmillan, 1999.
- Groves, Leslie. Finding the Right Tools for the Job: Lessons Learned on the Application of I.L.O. Convention 182 on the Worst Forms of Child Labour. London: Save the Children UK, 2003.
- ——. "Good Practice in Working Children'S Participation: A Case Study from Brazil." International Save the Children Alliance, 2003.
- ——. "Implementation of I.L.O. Child Labour Convention 182: Lessons from Bangladesh." London: Save the Children UK, 2003b.
- ——. "Implementation of I.L.O. Child Labour Convention 182: Lessons from Burkina Faso." London: Save the Children UK, 2003c.
- Guarcello, Lorenzo, S. Lyon, and F. Rosati. Impact of Working Time on Children's Health, Understanding Children's Work: Inter-Agency Research Cooperation Project. Geneva: ILO IPEC, 2004.
- Guarcello, Lorenzo, Furio Rosati, Scott Lyon, and Cristina Valdivia. "Impact of Children's Work on School Attendance and Performance: A Review of School Survey Evidence from Five Countries." In Understanding Children's Work: An inter-agency research co-operative.: International Labour Organisation, UNICEF, World Bank, 2005.
- Hazarika, Gautam, and Arjun S. Bedi. "Schooling Costs and Child Work in Rural Pakistan." Journal of Development Studies 39, no. 5 (2003): 29-64.
- Huijsmans, Roy. "Listening to Working School-Youth: Child-Centred Case Study of Employment Experiences of Havo-Students in Rural Eastern Netherlands." Master's Dissertation, Institute of Social Studies, 2004.
- ——. "Minors on Foreign Soils: Going Beyond Human Trafficking Vs. Labour Migration Illustrated with a Critical Discussion on Young Lao Workers in Thailand." 2006.

- Human Rights Watch. Abuses against Child Domestic Workers in El Salvador. Vol. 16, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2004.
- ——. Always on Call: Abuse and Exploitation of Child Domestic Workers in Indonesia. Vol. 17, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2005.
- ——. Borderline Slavery: Child Trafficking in Togo. Vol. 15, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2001.
- ——. Fingers to the Bone: United States Failure to Protect Child Farmworkers. New York, Washington, London, Brussels, 2000.
- ——. Inside the Home, Outside the Law: Abuse of Child Domestic Workers in Morocco. Vol. 17, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2005.
- ——. Small Change: Bonded Child Labor in India's Silk Industry. Vol. 15, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2003.
- ——. Tainted Harvest: Child Labor and Obstacles to Organizing on Ecuador's Banana Plantations, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc., 2002.
- . Turning a Blind Eye: Hazardous Child Labor in El Salvador's Sugarcane Cultivation. Vol. 16, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2004.
- ——. Underage and Unprotected: Child Labor in Egypt's Cotton Fields. Vol. 13, Human Rights Watch. New York, etc., 2001.
- International Labour Organisation. I.P.E.C. Action against Child Labour: Highlights, 2002b.
- International Programme on the Elimination of Child Labour. Child Labour: A Textbook for University Students. Geneva: International Labour Office, 2004.
- Invernizzi, Antonella. "Street-Working Children and Adolescents in Lima: Work as an Agent of Socialization." Childhood 10, no. 3 (2003): 319-41.
- Jacquemin, Mélanie. "Travail Domestique Et Travail Des Enfants, Le Cas D'abidjan (Côte-D'ivoire)." Revue Tiers Monde 43, no. 170 (2002): 307-26.
- Jacquemin, Mélanie Y. "Children's Domestic Work in Abidjan, Côte D'ivoire: The Petites Bonnes Have the Floor." Childhood 11 (2004): 3.
- Kannan, K.P. "Food Security for Reducing Child Deprivation: Kerala's Remarkable Record." In Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work, edited by Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massün, 394-412. New Delhi: Institute for Human Development and UN World Food Programme, 2002.
- Karunan, Victor. "Working Children as Change Makers: Perspectives from the South." In Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter, edited by Burns Weston. Boulder and London: Lynne Rienner, 2005.
- Kielland, Anne, and Maurizia Tovo. Children at Work: Child Labor Practices in Africa. Boulder & London: Lynne Rienner, 2006.
- Lakwijk, Preeti. "Ngos and Child Participation." In Working Children around the World: Child Rights and Child Reality, edited by G.K. Leiten, 81-94. Amsterdam & New Delhi: IREWOC Foundation & Institute for Human Development, 2004.
- Leonard, Madeleine. "Children's Views on Children's Right to Work: Reflections from Belfast." Childhood 11, no. 1 (2004): 45-61.

- Liebel, Manfred. "The Dignity of the Working Child: What Children in Nicaragua, El Salvador and Guatemala Think About Their Work." In Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India, edited by Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien and Albert Rechnagel, 53-66. Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001.
- ——. A Will of Their Own: Cross-Cultural Perspectives on Working Children. London & New York: Zed Books, 2004.
- Lieten, G.K. "Child Labour and Poverty." In Working Children around the World: Child Rights and Child Reality, edited by G.K. Lieten, 63-80. Amsterdam & New Delhi: IREWOC Foundation & Institute for Human Development, 2004.
- ——. "Child Labour in South Asia: An Account of Numbers." In Small Hands in South Asia: Child Labour in Perspective, edited by G.K. Lieten, Ravi Srivastava and Sukhadeo Thorat, 37-59. New Delhi: Manohar, 2004.
- ——. "Child Labour: What Happened to the Worst Forms?" Economic and Political Weekly 41, no. 2 (2006).
- Lieten, G.K., Anup K. Karan, and Anoop K. Satpathy. Children, School and Work: Glimpses from India. Amsterdam and New Delhi: IREWOC and Institute for Human Development, 2005.
- Ling, Birgitta. "Growing up in a Brothel." Stockholm: Save the Children Sweden, 2001.
- Mehrotra, Santosh, and Mario Biggeri. The Subterranean Child Labour Force: Subcontracted Home Based Manufacturing in Asia, Innocenti Working Paper No 96. Florence: Innocenti Research Centre, 2002.
- Miljeteig, Per. "Children's Democratic Rights: What We Can Learn from Young Workers Organising Themselves." In Children Taken Seriously in Theory, Policy and Practice, edited by Jan Mason and Toby Fattore, 123-35. London and Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley, 2005.
- Montgomery, Heather. Modern Babylon? Prostituting Children in Thailand. Edited by David Parkin and Soraya Tremayne, Fertility, Reproduction and Sexuality. Oxford: Berghahn Books, 2001.
- Mortimer, Jeylan T. Work and Growing up in America. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2003.
- Nangia, Parveen, and Nizamuddin Khan. "Educational Deprivation and Employment Status of Children in Rural Areas of Andhra Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh and Orissa: Evidences from Nhfs-2." In Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work, edited by Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massun, 324-44: Institute for Human Development, 2002.
- Nieuwenhuys, Olga. Children's Lifeworlds: Gender, Welfare and Labour in the Developing World. London: Routledge, 1994.
- "The Household Economy in the Commercial Exploitation of Children's Work: The Case of Kerala." In The Exploited Child, edited by Bernard Schlemmer, 278-91. London and New York: Zed Books, 2000.
- Nilsen, Ann C.E. "Negotiating Children's Work: A Comparative Study of Children's Work in Norway and Zimbabwe." University of Bergen, 2002.
- O'Connell Davidson, Julia. Children in the Global Sex Trade. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2005.
- Overwien, Bernd. "Informal Learning, Social Movements and the Acquisition of Competence for Self-Determined Working and Living." In Working

- Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India, edited by Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien and Albert Rechnagel, 247-67. Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001.
- Prakash, Aseem. "Food Insecurity and Children in Madya Pradesh: A Need for Structural Change." In Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work, edited by Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massün, 260-77. New Delhi: Institute for Human Development and UN World Food Programme, 2002.
- Rani, D. Lakshmi, and Manabendranath Roy, eds. Child Domestic Work: A Violation of Human Rights: Issues, Causes and Consequences in West Bengal. Kolkata: Save the Children, UK, 2005.
- Ratna, Kavita. "Documenting Bhima Sangha's Process." In Paper presented to conference on "Children in Adversity: ways to reinforce the coping ability and resilience of children in situations of hardship". Oxford, 2000.
- Ravallion, Martin, and Quentin Wodon. "Does Child Labour Displace Schooling? Evidence on Behavioural Responses to an Enrolment Subsidy." The Economic Journal, no. 110 (2000): C158-C75.
- Recknagel, Albert. ""School Is No Good to Me I Prefer to Work": Doubts About the Formula "School Rather Than Work" and Project Alternatives Linking Education with Work." In Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India, edited by Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien and Albert Rechnagel, 233-45. Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001.
- Rende Taylor, Lisa. "Dangerous Trade-Offs: The Behaviuoral Ecology of Child-Labor and Prostitution in Rural Northern Thailand." Current Anthropology 46, no. 3 (2005): 411-31.
- Rialp, Victoria V. "Combatting Child Labor in the Philippines: Listening to the Children." In Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter, edited by Burns Weston, 187-208. Boulder and London: Lynne Reinner, 2005.
- Riisøen, Kari Hauge, Anne Hatløy, and Lise Bjerkan. Travel to Uncertainty: A Study of Child Relocation in Burkina Faso, Ghana and Mali, Fafo-Report 440. Oslo: Fafo.
- Robson, Elsbeth. "Invisible Carers: Young People in Zimbabwe's Home-Based Health Care." In Earning a Life: Working Children in Zimbabwe, edited by Michael Bourdillon, 109-25. Harare: Weaver Press, 2000.
- Rubenson, Birgitta. "Young Sex-Workers in Ho Chi Minh City Telling Their Life Stories." Childhood 12, no. 3 (2005): 391-411.
- Sanon, Chandragupt S. Working Children: A Sociological Analysis. New Delhi: APH Publishing, 1998.
- Save the Children Alliance. 10 Essential Learning Points: Listen and Speak out against Sexual Abuse of Girls and Boys., Global Submission to the U.N. Study on Violence against Children. Oslo: Save the Children, Norway, 2005.
- ———. Children and Work: Save the Children's Position on Children and Work. London: Save the Children Alliance, 2003.
- Save the Children Denmark. "Trafficking in Children to Denmark." Copenhagen: Save the Children, Denmark, 2003.

- Save the Children UK. Children's Views and Definitions of Harmful Work: Implications for Policies and Practice. Dhaka, Bangladesh: Save the Children UK, 2005.
- Sinha, Shantha, and others. "Our Mining Children: A Report of the Fact Finding Team of the Child Labourers in the Iron Ore and Granite Mines in Bellary District of Karnataka." 2005.
- Sommerfelt, Tone, ed. Domestic Child Labour in Morocco: An Analysis of the Parties Involved in Relationships to "Petites Bonnes", Fafo Report 370. Oslo: Fafo Institute for Applied Social Science, 2003.
- Swift, Anthony. Working Children Get Organised. London: International Save the Children Alliance, 1999.
- Truong, Thanh-Dam. Poverty, Gender and Human Trafficking in Sub-Saharan Africa: Rethinking Best Practices in Migration Management: UNESCO, 2006.
- Tyldum, Guri, Marianne Tveit, and Anette Brunovskis. Taking Stock: A Review of the Existing Research on Trafficking for Exploitation, Fafo Report 493. Oslo: FAFO, 2005.
- UNICEF. Child Labour Today. London: UNICEF, 2005.
- Weston, Burns. "Introduction." In Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter, edited by Burns Weston, xv-xxv. Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005.
- ———, ed. Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter. Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005.
- White, Ben, and Indrasari Tjandraningsih. Child Workers in Indonesia. Bandung: Akatiga, 1998.
- Woodhead, Martin. "Children's Perceptions of Their Working Lives. A Participatory Study in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, the Philippines, Guatemala, El Salvador, and Nicaragua." Stockholm: Save the Children, Sweden, 1998.
- Woohead, Martin. "Psychosocial Impacts of Child Work: A Framework for Research, Monitoring and Intervention." The International Journal of Children's Rights 12, no. 4 (2004): 321–77.
- World Movement of Working Children. Final Declaration of the 2nd Meeting of the World Movement of Working Children and Adolescents, Berlin, Germany, April 19th to 2nd May 2004, 2004 2006].
- Zelizer, Viviana A. "Kids and Commerce." Childhood 9, no. 4 (2004): 375-96.

Footnotes

¹ E.g., G.K. Lieten, Anup K. Karan, and Anoop K. Satpathy, *Children, School and Work: Glimpses from India* (Amsterdam and New Delhi: IREWOC and Institute for Human Development, 2005). P.23.

² Julia O'Connell Davidson, *Children in the Global Sex Trade* (Cambridge: Polity Press, 2005). On the agency of children, see also Manfred Liebel, *A Will of Their Own: Cross-Cultural Perspectives on Working Children* (London & New York: Zed Books, 2004).

³ Article 31a. The appropriateness of this assertion has been questioned as asserting unnecessary rights to elders. Anne Kielland and Maurizia Tovo, *Children at Work: Child Labor Practices in Africa* (Boulder & London: Lynne Rienner, 2006). P.10.

⁴ Alejandro Cussiánovich, "Some Premises for Reflection and Social Practices with Working Children and Adolescents," in *Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India*, ed. Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien, and Albert Rechnagel (Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001). Pp.124-125.

⁵ Save the Children Alliance, *Children and Work: Save the Children's Position on Children and Work* (London: Save the Children Alliance, 2003). P.3.

⁶ Judith Ennew, William Myers, and Dominique Pierre Plateau, "Defining Child Labor as If Human Rights Really Matter," in *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter*, ed. Burns Weston (Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005). Pp.44-50.

⁷ Michael Bourdillon, "Translating Standards into Practice: Confronting Local Barriers," in *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter*, ed. Burns Weston (Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner: Lynne Reiner, 2005). P.164.

⁸ For example, Burns Weston, "Introduction," in *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter*, ed. Burns Weston (Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005). P. xv. Also G.K. Lieten, "Child Labour and Poverty," in *Working Children around the World: Child Rights and Child Reality*, ed. G.K. Lieten (Amsterdam & New Delhi: IREWOC Foundation & Institute for Human Development, 2004). P. 65.

⁹ Lieten, Karan, and Satpathy, *Children, School and Work*. Pp.88-89. UNICEF, *Child Labour Today* (London: UNICEF, 2005). P.7.

¹⁰ International Labour Organisation, *I.P.E.C. Action against Child Labour: Highlights* (2002b). Pp.11-12. UNICEF, *Child Labour Today*. P.10. Dos Santos extends the term to cover "inappropriate work": Benedito Rodrigues dos Santos, "Combating Child Labor in Brazil: Social Movements in Action," in *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter*, ed. Burns Weston (Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005). P.218.

¹¹ See, for example, Lieten, Karan, and Satpathy, *Children, School and Work*. P.61. Although the authors define "child work" as benign, they regular use the work "work" to refer to employment.

¹² Save the Children UK, *Children's Views and Definitions of Harmful Work: Implications for Policies and Practice* (Dhaka, Bangladesh: Save the Children UK, 2005). Pp.3-4. Ann C.E. Nilsen, "Negotiating Children's Work: A Comparative Study of Children's Work in Norway and Zimbabwe" (University of Bergen, 2002). P.68.

¹³ See Liebel, A Will of Their Own. P.206.

¹⁴ Martin Woohead, "Psychosocial Impacts of Child Work: A Framework for Research, Monitoring and Intervention," *The International Journal of Children's Rights* 12, no. 4 (2004).

¹⁵ Jeylan T. Mortimer, Work and Growing up in America (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2003).

- ¹⁶ E.g., Gautam Hazarika and Arjun S. Bedi, "Schooling Costs and Child Work in Rural Pakistan," *Journal of Development Studies* 39, no. 5 (2003). P.33. Debbie Budlender and Dawie Bosch, "South Africa: Child Domestic Workers.," (Geneva: International Labour Organisation, 2002). P.26
- ¹⁷ See G.K. Lieten, "Child Labour in South Asia: An Account of Numbers," in *Small Hands in South Asia: Child Labour in Perspective*, ed. G.K. Lieten, Ravi Srivastava, and Sukhadeo Thorat (New Delhi: Manohar, 2004). G.K. Lieten, "Child Labour: What Happened to the Worst Forms?," *Economic and Political Weekly* 41, no. 2 (2006).
- ¹⁸ See the recent publication by UNICEF, which nowhere defines the term, and in which there are very few references to low wages, and none to profit or surplus value. UNICEF, *Child Labour Today*.
- ¹⁹ Liebel, A Will of Their Own. P.200. He mentions business in America sponsoring competitions among school children for their advertising campaigns.
- ²⁰ See, for example, the reports by Human Rights Watch in the bibliography at the end of this report.
 - ²¹ ILO Convention 182, article 3d.
 - ²² See Liebel, A Will of Their Own. P.2.
 - ²³ Mortimer, Work and Growing up in America. P. 205.
- ²⁴ Antonella Invernizzi, "Street-Working Children and Adolescents in Lima: Work as an Agent of Socialization," *Childhood* 10, no. 3 (2003). Manfred Liebel, "The Dignity of the Working Child: What Children in Nicaragua, El Salvador and Guatemala Think About Their Work," in *Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India*, ed. Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien, and Albert Rechnagel (Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001). P.58.
- ²⁵ D. Lakshmi Rani and Manabendranath Roy, eds., *Child Domestic Work: A Violation of Human Rights: Issues, Causes and Consequences in West Bengal* (Kolkata: Save the Children, UK, 2005). P.25.
- ²⁶ See Tone Sommerfelt, ed., *Domestic Child Labour in Morocco: An Analysis of the Parties Involved in Relationships to "Petites Bonnes"*, Fafo Report 370 (Oslo: Fafo Institute for Applied Social Science, 2003). Pp. 26, 33.
 - ²⁷ Liebel, A Will of Their Own. P.209
- ²⁸ See, for example, the actions discussed in International Programme on the Elimination of Child Labour, *Child Labour: A Textbook for University Students* (Geneva: International Labour Office, 2004). Pp. 250-263.
- ²⁹ Sylvian E. Dessy and Stéphane Pallage, "A Theory of the Worst Forms of Child Labour," *The Economic Journal* 115 (2005).
 - ³⁰ This is the main theme in Liebel, A Will of Their Own.
- ³¹ Mortimer, *Work and Growing up in America*. Viviana A. Zelizer, "Kids and Commerce," *Childhood* 9, no. 4 (2004). Roy Huijsmans, "Listening to Working School-Youth: Child-Centred Case Study of Employment Experiences of Havo-Students in Rural Eastern Netherlands." (Master's Dissertation, Institute of Social Studies, 2004).
 - ³² O'Connell Davidson, Children in the Global Sex Trade.
- ³³ Lieten, Karan, and Satpathy, *Children, School and Work.* Pp.23, 159. Preeti Lakwijk, "Ngos and Child Participation," in *Working Children around the World: Child Rights and Child Reality*, ed. G.K. Leiten (Amsterdam & New Delhi: IREWOC Foundation & Institute for Human Development, 2004).
 - ³⁴ E.g. Liebel, A Will of Their Own. Pp.70-71, and passim.
- ³⁵ World Movement of Working Children, Final Declaration of the 2nd Meeting of the World Movement of Working Children and Adolescents, Berlin, Germany, April 19th to 2nd May 2004 (2004 [cited 2006]). http://www.iicrd.org/cap/node/view/144 (accessed 10/02/06).

- ³⁶ Leslie Groves, "Implementation of I.L.O. Child Labour Convention 182: Lessons from Bangladesh," (London: Save the Children UK, 2003b). P.3.
- ³⁷ Leslie Groves, Finding the Right Tools for the Job: Lessons Learned on the Application of I.L.O. Convention 182 on the Worst Forms of Child Labour (London: Save the Children UK, 2003). P.8.
- ³⁸ This comes from a report to Save the Children, Norway, by Julian Kramer on a visit to Concerned for Working Children, 26 October to 2 November, 2003.
- ³⁹ Cussiánovich, "Some Premises for Reflection and Social Action." Pp. 116-117. Ennew, Myers, and Plateau, "Defining Child Labor." Pp.32-33.
- ⁴⁰ The right to light work is one of the twelve rights claimed by the African Movement of Working Children and Youth. See also Madeleine Leonard, "Children's Views on Children's Right to Work: Reflections from Belfast," *Childhood* 11, no. 1 (2004).
- ⁴¹ Jens Chr. Andvig, "Child Labour in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Exploration," Forum for Development Studies 2 (1998). P.327.
 - ⁴² Groves, "Lessons from Bangladesh." P.3.
- ⁴³ Glynis Clacherty, "Report on a Children's Participation Process: Towards a South African Child Labour Programme," (Pretoria: Department of Labour, 2002). P.34.
- ⁴⁴ Human Rights Watch, *Small Change: Bonded Child Labor in India's Silk Industry*, vol. 15, *Human Rights Watch* (New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2003). P.35.
- ⁴⁵ Shantha Sinha and others, "Our Mining Children: A Report of the Fact Finding Team of the Child Labourers in the Iron Ore and Granite Mines in Bellary District of Karnataka," (2005). Leslie Groves, "Implementation of I.L.O. Child Labour Convention 182: Lessons from Burkina Faso," (London: Save the Children UK, 2003c).
 - ⁴⁶ Human Rights Watch, Small Change. P.30.
- ⁴⁷ Emily Delap, Boureima Ouedraogo, and Bakary Sogoba, "Developing Alternatives to the Worst Forms of Child Labour in Mali and Burkina Faso," (Save the Children Sweden, 2005).
- ⁴⁸ Syed Mehmood Asghar, Sabir Farhat, and Shereen Niaz, *Camel Jockeys of Rahimyar Khan: Findings of a Participatory Research on Life and Situation of Child Camel Jockeys* (Peshawar, Pakistan: Save the Children Sweden, Pakistan Programme, 2005). P.43.
 - ⁴⁹ Human Rights Watch, Small Change. P.35.
 - 50 Ibid.
- ⁵¹ Thérèse Blanchet, "Child Work in a Bihari Camp and in the Benarasi Sari Industry of Mirpur," (Stockholm: Save the Children Sweden, 2001). P.97
 - ⁵² Ibid. P.98.
 - ⁵³ Asghar, Farhat, and Niaz, Camel Jockeys of Rahimyar Khan. P.40.
- ⁵⁴ Human Rights Watch, *Fingers to the Bone: United States Failure to Protect Child Farmworkers* (New York, Washington, London, Brussels: 2000).
- ⁵⁵ Human Rights Watch, Underage and Unprotected: Child Labor in Egypt's Cotton Fields, vol. 13, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: 2001).
- ⁵⁶ Human Rights Watch, Tainted Harvest: Child Labor and Obstacles to Organizing on Ecuador's Banana Plantations, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: 2002). P.24-29.
 - ⁵⁷ Groves, "Lessons from Burkina Faso." P.3.
 - 58 Human Rights Watch, Small Change. P.28.
- ⁵⁹ Lorenzo Guarcello, S. Lyon, and F. Rosati, *Impact of Working Time on Children's Health*, *Understanding Children's Work: Inter-Agency Research Cooperation Project* (Geneva: ILO IPEC, 2004).
- ⁶⁰ E.g., Human Rights Watch, Turning a Blind Eye: Hazardous Child Labor in El Salvador's Sugarcane Cultivation, vol. 16, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2004). P.8. Human Rights Watch, Fingers to the Bone. P.10.
 - 61 Human Rights Watch, Turning a Blind Eye. Pp.20-21.
 - 62 Human Rights Watch, Small Change.
 - 63 Asghar, Farhat, and Niaz, Camel Jockeys of Rahimyar Khan. P.46.

- 64 Human Rights Watch, Fingers to the Bone. Pp.42-50.
- 65 Blanchet, "Child Work in a Bihari Camp." P.97
- ⁶⁶ Martin Woodhead, "Children's Perceptions of Their Working Lives. A Participatory Study in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, the Philippines, Guatemala, El Salvador, and Nicaragua," (Stockholm: Save the Children, Sweden, 1998).
 - ⁶⁷ Liebel, "The Dignity of the Working Child." P.58.
- ⁶⁸ Michael Bourdillon, *Child Domestic Workers in Zimbabwe* (Harare: Weaver Press, 2006). P.70.
- ⁶⁹ Guri Tyldum, Marianne Tveit, and Anette Brunovskis, *Taking Stock: A Review of the Existing Research on Trafficking for Exploitation*, Fafo Report 493 (Oslo: FAFO, 2005). Pp.37-41.
 - ⁷⁰ E.g., Sommerfelt, ed., *Domestic Child Labour in Morocco*. P.37.
- ⁷¹ Thérèse Blanchet, ""Slave for a Season": The Dulabhangas and Other Cheap Labour in the Bangladesh Dry Fish Industry," (Dhaka: Save the Children, Sweden-Denmark, 2005). Ben White and Indrasari Tjandraningsih, *Child Workers in Indonesia* (Bandung: Akatiga, 1998). Pp.52-56.
- ⁷² O'Connell Davidson, *Children in the Global Sex Trade.* Pp.64-84. Also Roy Huijsmans, "Minors on Foreign Soils: Going Beyond Human Trafficking Vs. Labour Migration Illustrated with a Critical Discussion on Young Lao Workers in Thailand.," (2006).
- ⁷³ Kari Hauge Riisøen, Anne Hatløy, and Lise Bjerkan, *Travel to Uncertainty: A Study of Child Relocation in Burkina Faso, Ghana and Mali, Fafo-Report 440* (Oslo: Fafo). Pp.9-10.
- ⁷⁴ E.g., Human Rights Watch, Borderline Slavery: Child Trafficking in Togo, vol. 15, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2001). Asghar, Farhat, and Niaz, Camel Jockeys of Rahimyar Khan. Thanh-Dam Truong, Poverty, Gender and Human Trafficking in Sub-Saharan Africa: Rethinking Best Practices in Migration Management (UNESCO, 2006). Pp.62-69.
 - ⁷⁵ e.g., dos Santos, "Combating Child Labor in Brazil." P.230.
- ⁷⁶ Ragui Assaad, Deborah Levison, and Nadia Zibani, "The Effect of Child Work on Schooling: Evidence from Egypt," (2005).
- ⁷⁷ Lieten, Karan, and Satpathy, *Children, School and Work.* P.147. Chandragupt S. Sanon, *Working Children: A Sociological Analysis* (New Delhi: APH Publishing, 1998). P.95. Parveen Nangia and Nizamuddin Khan, "Educational Deprivation and Employment Status of Children in Rural Areas of Andhra Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh and Orissa: Evidences from Nhfs-2," in *Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work*, ed. Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massun (Institute for Human Development, 2002). P.328. Aseem Prakash, "Food Insecurity and Children in Madya Pradesh: A Need for Structural Change," in *Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work*, ed. Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massün (New Delhi: Institute for Human Development and UN World Food Programme, 2002). P.276.
- ⁷⁸ Martin Ravallion and Quentin Wodon, "Does Child Labour Displace Schooling? Evidence on Behavioural Responses to an Enrolment Subsidy," *The Economic Journal*, no. 110 (2000). P. 172. Hazarika and Bedi, "Schooling Costs and Child Work in Rural Pakistan." P.55.
 - ⁷⁹ Kielland and Tovo, Children at Work. P.17.
- ⁸⁰ Lorenzo Guarcello et al., "Impact of Children's Work on School Attendance and Performance: A Review of School Survey Evidence from Five Countries," in Understanding Children's Work: An inter-agency research co-operative. (International Labour Organisation, UNICEF, World Bank, 2005). Pp. 57, 8, 19, 25. Mortimer, Work and Growing up in America. P. 176.
- ⁸¹ Emily Delap, *Planning Working Children's Education: A Guide for Education Sector Planners* (London: Save the Children, 2004).

- ⁸² E.g., Hie-Joang Che, "Children in the Examination War in South Korea: A Cultural Analysis," in *Children and the Politics of Culture*, ed. Sharon Stephens (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1995), Norma Field, "The Child as Laborer and Consumer: The Disappearance of Childhood in Contemporary Japan.," in *Children and the Politics of Culture*, ed. Sharon Stephens (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1995).
 - 83 Human Rights Watch, Small Change. Pp.41-44.
 - 84 Blanchet, "Child Work in a Bihari Camp." P.22
 - 85 Kielland and Tovo, Children at Work. P.43.
- ⁸⁶ Thérèse Blanchet, Anisa Zaman and, and Masuda AktarLucki, "Slavery Revisited: Adopting a Child to Secure a Servant: Palok Meye, Palok Chele," (Dhakar: Save the Children, Sweden Denmark, 2004).
 - 87 Kielland and Tovo, Children at Work. P.56.
- ⁸⁸ Emily Delap, "Economic and Cultural Forces in the Child Labour Debate: Evidence from Urban Bangladesh," *The Journal of Development Studies* 37, no. 5 (2001).
- ⁸⁹ Neera Burra, *Born to Work: Child Labour in India* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995). P.170.
- ⁹⁰ Helena Eversole and Senija Tahirovic, "Research on Child Trafficking in Bosnia and Herzegovina," (Oslo: Save the Children, Norway, 2004). Pp.34-41.
- ⁹¹ Against a cultural interpretation, see, e.g., Susan Bissell, "Incentives to Education and Child Labour Elimination: A Case Study of Bangladesh," in *Small Hands in South Asia: Child Labour in Perspective*, ed. G.K. Lieten, Ravi Srivastava, and Sukhadeo Thorat (Manohar: 2004). P. 282.
 - 92 Bourdillon, "Translating Standards into Practice." Pp.160-161.
- ⁹³ Emily Delap, "Urban Children'S Work During and after the 1998 Floods in Bangladesh," *Development in Practice* 10, no. 5 (2000). P.667
- ⁹⁴ Christiaan Grootaert and Harry Anthony Patrinos, "Policies to Reduce Child Labor," in *The Policy Analysis of Child Labor: A Comparative Study.*, ed. Christiaan Grootaert and Harry Anthony Patrinos (London: Macmillan, 1999). P.156.
- 95 See, e.g., Christiaan Grootaert and Harry Anthony Patrinos, eds., The Policy Analysis of Child Labor: A Comparative Study (London: Macmillan, 1999). Delap, "Economic and Cultural Forces in the Child Labour Debate." P.8. Lieten, "Child Labour and Poverty." Pp. 69-71. Save the Children UK, Children's Views and Definitions of Harmful Work. P.9.
- ⁹⁶ Kathleen Beegle, Rajeev H. Dehejia, and Robert Gatti, "Child Labor, Income Shocks, and Access to Credit," (http://www.worldbank.org.sp.childlabor.documents: World Bank, 2003).
- ⁹⁷ S. Mahendra Dev and C. Ravi, "Food Security and Child Work in South India: Determinants and Policies," in *Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work*, ed. Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massün (New Delhi: Institute for Human Development and UN World Food Programme, 2002), K.P. Kannan, "Food Security for Reducing Child Deprivation: Kerala's Remarkable Record," in *Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work*, ed. Nira Ramachandran and Lionel Massün (New Delhi: Institute for Human Development and UN World Food Programme, 2002).
- ⁹⁸ Sonia Bhalotra, "Child Labour in Africa," in *OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers* (Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2003). See also Lieten, Karan, and Satpathy, *Children, School and Work*. P.59.
- ⁹⁹ It is worth noting that part-time work in the developed world may sometimes relieve stress elsewhere in the children's lives. Kathleen T. Call, "Adolescent Work as 'an Arena of Comfort'," in *Adolescents, Work, and Family: An Intergenerational Developmental Analysis*, ed. J. T. Mortimer and M. D. Finch (Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi: Sage Publications, 1996b). P.155.
 - ¹⁰⁰ Lieten, Child labour and poverty 73-76.
 - ¹⁰¹ Bourdillon, "Translating Standards into Practice." P.163.
 - ¹⁰² See Kielland and Tovo, *Children at Work*. Especially pp.14-15.

- ¹⁰³ Children of Balkur Panchayat, *Work We Can and Cannot Do* (Bangalore: The Concerned for Working Children, 1999).
 - ¹⁰⁴ Clacherty, "Report on a Children's Participation Process." Pp.33-34.
- ¹⁰⁵ Victoria V. Rialp, "Combatting Child Labor in the Philippines: Listening to the Children," in *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter*, ed. Burns Weston (Boulder and London: Lynne Reinner, 2005). P.191.
- 106 Olga Nieuwenhuys, Children's Lifeworlds: Gender, Welfare and Labour in the Developing World (London: Routledge, 1994). P.21. Also Olga Nieuwenhuys, "The Household Economy in the Commercial Exploitation of Children's Work: The Case of Kerala," in The Exploited Child, ed. Bernard Schlemmer (London and New York: Zed Books, 2000).
 - ¹⁰⁷ E.g., Bourdillon, Child Domestic Workers in Zimbabwe. Pp.63-65.
 - ¹⁰⁸ Assaad, Levison, and Zibani, "The Effect of Child Work on Schooling." P.39.
 - ¹⁰⁹ Bourdillon, Child Domestic Workers in Zimbabwe. Pp.18-19.
- ¹¹⁰ Christopher Dearden and Saul Becker, "The Experience of Young Carers in the United Kingdom: The Mental Health Issues," *Mental Health Care* 21, no. 8 (1999).
- ¹¹¹ See, e.g., Elsbeth Robson, "Invisible Carers: Young People in Zimbabwe's Home-Based Health Care.," in *Earning a Life: Working Children in Zimbabwe*, ed. Michael Bourdillon (Harare: Weaver Press, 2000).
 - ¹¹² Clacherty, "Report on a Children's Participation Process." P.15.
- 113 Santosh Mehrotra and Mario Biggeri, The Subterranean Child Labour Force: Subcontracted Home Based Manufacturing in Asia, Innocenti Working Paper No 96 (Florence: Innocenti Research Centre, 2002). P.50.
 - ¹¹⁴ Ibid. P.45.
- 115 See Human Rights Watch, Abuses against Child Domestic Workers in El Salvador, vol. 16, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2004), Human Rights Watch, Always on Call: Abuse and Exploitation of Child Domestic Workers in Indonesia, vol. 17, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2005), Human Rights Watch, Inside the Home, Outside the Law: Abuse of Child Domestic Workers in Morocco, vol. 17, Human Rights Watch (New York, etc.: Human Rights Watch, 2005). Johnathan Blagbrough and Edmund Glynn, "Child Domestic Workers: Characteristics of the Modern Slave and Approaches to Ending Such Exploitation," Childhood 6, no. 1 (1999).
 - 116 E.g., Rani and Roy, eds., Child Domestic Work.
- ¹¹⁷ Maggie Black, A Handbook on Advocacy. Child Domestic Workers: Finding a Voice. (Anti-Slavery International, 2002). P.ii.
- ¹¹⁸ Human Rights Watch, *Inside the Home, Outside the Law.* Sommerfelt, ed., *Domestic Child Labour in Morocco*. Pp. 26, 33.
- ¹¹⁹ Erdmute Alber, "Grandparents as Foster-Parents: Transformations in Foster Relations between Grandparents and Grandchildren in Northern Benin," *Africa* 74, no. 1 (2004).
 - ¹²⁰ Bourdillon, Child Domestic Workers in Zimbabwe. Pp.59-60, 49.
 - ¹²¹ Riisøen, Hatløy, and Bjerkan, Travel to Uncertainty. PP.14-15.
- ¹²² E.g., Michael Bourdillon and Rumbidzai Rurevo, *Girls on the Street* (Harare: Weaver Press, 2003). P.30.
 - 123 Riisøen, Hatløy, and Bjerkan, Travel to Uncertainty. P.19.
- ¹²⁴ Thérèse Blanchet, *Lost Innocence, Stolen Childhoods* (Dhaka: The University Press Limited, 1996). Pp.102-103.
- 125 This was the preferred arrangement for child domestic workers in Senegal. See Mélanie Jacquemin, "Travail Domestique et Travail des Enfants, Le Cas d'Abidjan (Côte-d'Ivoire)," Revue Tiers Monde 43, no. 170 (2002).
- ¹²⁶ Human Rights Watch, *Always on Call.* P.54. Human Rights Watch, *Child Domestic Workers in El Salvador*. P.26.
 - 127 Kielland and Tovo, Children at Work. P.19.

- ¹²⁸ Mélanie Y. Jacquemin, "Children's Domestic Work in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire: The Petites Bonnes Have the Floor," *Childhood* 11 (2004). P.290.
- 129 E.g., Child Workers in Nepal Concerned Centre, "A Situational Analaysis of Child Sex Tourism in Nepal (Kathmandu Valley and Pokhara," (2003). P.27. See comments in Save the Children Alliance, 10 Essential Learning Points: Listen and Speak out against Sexual Abuse of Girls and Boys., Global Submission to the U.N. Study on Violence against Children (Oslo: Save the Children, Norway, 2005). P. 58.
 - ¹³⁰ Save the Children Alliance, 10 Essential Learning Points. P.58.
- ¹³¹ Save the Children Denmark, "Trafficking in Children to Denmark," (Copenhagen: Save the Children, Denmark, 2003). P.20.
 - ¹³² Eversole and Tahirovic, "Research on Child Trafficking." Pp.20-34.
- ¹³³ Equations, "A Situational Analysis of Child Sex Tourism in India (Kerala and Goa)." (Equations, 2003). P.25.
- ¹³⁴ Mont Heather Montgomery, *Modern Babylon? Prostituting Children in Thailand*, ed. David Parkin and Soraya Tremayne, *Fertility, Reproduction and Sexuality* (Oxford: Berghahn Books, 2001).
 - ¹³⁵ Clacherty, "Report on a Children's Participation Process." P.20.
 - ¹³⁶ O'Connell Davidson, Children in the Global Sex Trade. P.151.
- ¹³⁷ Birgitta Rubenson, "Young Sex-Workers in Ho Chi Minh City Telling Their Life Stories," *Childhood* 12, no. 3 (2005).
- ¹³⁸ Lisa Rende Taylor, "Dangerous Trade-Offs: The Behaviuoral Ecology of Child-Labor and Prostitution in Rural Northern Thailand," *Current Anthropology* 46, no. 3 (2005).
- ¹³⁹ Birgitta Ling, "Growing up in a Brothel," (Stockholm: Save the Children Sweden, 2001).
- Luke Dowdney, Children of the Drug Trade: A Case Study of Children in Organised Armed Violence in Rio De Janeiro (Rio de Janeiro: Viveiros de Castro Editora Ltda, 2003). P.131
 - ¹⁴¹ Ibid. Pp.154.
 - ¹⁴² Ibid. Pp.125-127.
- ¹⁴³ Compare this with 467 minors killed in conflicts between Israel and Palestine in the occupied territories in the same period. Ibid. P.172
 - 144 Ibid. P. 220
 - ¹⁴⁵ E.g., Human Rights Watch, Small Change. Pp.17-18.
 - ¹⁴⁶ Black, A Handbook on Advocacy. Child Domestic Workers: Finding a Voice. P.18
 - ¹⁴⁷ Kielland and Tovo, Children at Work. Pp.146-151.
- ¹⁴⁸ Groves, *Finding the Right Tools for the Job.* P.13 This requires a medium that is widely accessible and all necessary instructions to access the video.
 - ¹⁴⁹ Ibid. Pp.7-8.
- ¹⁵⁰ Maggie Black, *Opening Minds, Opening up Opportunities* (London: Save the Children, 2004). Pp.15-19.
- 151 Victor Karunan, "Working Children as Change Makers: Perspectives from the South," in *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter*, ed. Burns Weston (Boulder and London: Lynne Rienner, 2005). Kavita Ratna, "Documenting Bhima Sangha's Process," in *Paper presented to conference on "Children in Adversity: ways to reinforce the coping ability and resilience of children in situations of hardship"* (Oxford: 2000). Anthony Swift, *Working Children Get Organised* (London: International Save the Children Alliance, 1999). Liebel, *A Will of Their Own*. Pp.216-228. Per Miljeteig, "Children's Democratic Rights: What We Can Learn from Young Workers Organising Themselves," in *Children Taken Seriously in Theory, Policy and Practice*, ed. Jan Mason and Toby Fattore (London and Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley, 2005).
- ¹⁵² See the consensus statement in Burns Weston, ed., *Child Labor and Human Rights: Making Children Matter* (Boulder & London: Lynne Reiner, 2005). P.433.
 - ¹⁵³ Rialp, "Combatting Child Labor in the Philippines."

- ¹⁵⁴ Human Rights Watch, *Small Change*. P.63. dos Santos, "Combating Child Labor in Brazil." Leslie Groves, "Good Practice in Working Children'S Participation: A Case Study from Brazil.," (International Save the Children Alliance, 2003). Bissell, "Incentives to Education and Child Labour Elimination." Pp.283-285.
 - 155 Ravallion and Wodon, "Does Child Labour Displace Schooling?."
 - ¹⁵⁶ Human Rights Watch, Small Change. P.8.
- ¹⁵⁷ Bissell, "Incentives to Education and Child Labour Elimination." P.285. Jo Boyden, Birgitta Ling, and William Myers, *What Works for Working Children* (Stockholm: Rädda Barnen & UNICEF, 1998). P.317.
 - ¹⁵⁸ See Boyden, Ling, and Myers, What Works for Working Children. Pp.307, 310.
- ¹⁵⁹ Delap, Ouedraogo, and Sogoba, "Developing Alternatives to the Worst Forms of Child Labour in Mali and Burkina Faso."
- ¹⁶⁰ See Italianats website: http://www.italianats.org/interna.html. Trading standards that deny access to markets of over half the population of developing countries are not fair.
 - ¹⁶¹ Delap, Planning Working Children's Education.
- 162 Bernd Overwien, "Informal Learning, Social Movements and the Acquisition of Competence for Self-Determined Working and Living," in *Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India*, ed. Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien, and Albert Rechnagel (Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001), Albert Recknagel, ""School Is No Good to Me I Prefer to Work": Doubts About the Formula "School Rather Than Work" and Project Alternatives Linking Education with Work," in *Working Children's Protagonism: Social Movements and Empowerment in Latin America, Africa and India*, ed. Manfred Liebel, Bernd Overwien, and Albert Rechnagel (Frankfurt and London: Verlag für Interkulturelle Kommunikation, 2001).